# **CHEMICAL** REVIEWS



# Deep Eutectic Solvents (DESs) and Their Applications

Emma L. Smith,<sup>\*,†,‡</sup> Andrew P. Abbott,<sup>‡</sup> and Karl S. Ryder<sup>‡</sup>

<sup>†</sup>Department of Chemistry, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham NG11 8NS, United Kingdom

<sup>‡</sup>Department of Chemistry, University of Leicester, Leicester LE1 7RH, United Kingdom



# **CONTENTS**

1. Introduction	11060
1.1. Deep Eutectic Solvents	11060
1.2. Brief Description of Ionic Liquids	11061
2. Properties of DESs	11062
2.1. Phase Behavior	11062
2.2. Density, Viscosity, Conductivity, and Surface	
Tension	11063
2.3. Hole Theory and Ionicity	11064
2.4. Electrochemical Behavior	11065
2.5. Speciation	11066
2.6. Green Credentials	11067
3. Metal Processing Applications	11067
3.1. Metal Electrodeposition	11068
3.1.1. Chrome Plating	11068
3.1.2. Aluminum Plating	11068
3.1.3. Copper Plating	11069
3.1.4. Nickel Plating	11069
3.1.5. Zinc Plating	11069
3.1.6. Other Metal Coatings	11071
3.1.7. Alloy Coatings	11071
3.1.8. Composite Coatings	11072
3.1.9. Immersion and Electroless Coatings	11072
3.2.10. Synthesis of Metal Nanoparticles	11072
3.2. Metal Electropolishing	11073
3.3. Metal Extraction and the Processing of Metal	
Oxides	11073
4. Synthesis Applications	11074
4.1. Ionothermal Synthesis	11076
4.2. Gas Adsorption	11076
4.3. Biotransformations	11077
4.4. Transformations of Unprotected Sugars,	
Cellulose, and Starch	11077
4.5. Purifying and Manufacturing Biodiesel	11077
5. Conclusions	11078

iai, enited idiguoin	
Author Information	11078
Corresponding Author	11078
Notes	11078
Biographies	11078
Acknowledgments	11079
References	11079

# 1. INTRODUCTION

Deep eutectic solvents (DESs) are now widely acknowledged as a new class of ionic liquid (IL) analogues because they share many characteristics and properties with ILs. The terms DES and IL have been used interchangeably in the literature though it is necessary to point out that these are actually two different types of solvent. DESs are systems formed from a eutectic mixture of Lewis or Brønsted acids and bases which can contain a variety of anionic and/or cationic species; in contrast, ILs are formed from systems composed primarily of one type of discrete anion and cation. It is illustrated here that although the physical properties of DESs are similar to other ILs, their chemical properties suggest application areas which are significantly different.

The research into ionic liquids (ILs) has escalated in the last two decades, ever since the potential for new chemical technologies was realized. In the period covered by this review, approximately 6000 journal articles have been published on the topic. Compared to classical ILs, the research into DESs is comparatively in its infancy, with the first paper on the subject only published in 2001.<sup>1</sup> However, with publications from the past decade now approaching 200 an increasing amount of research effort is focusing on this emerging field. This is a comprehensive review encompassing all research areas and applications relating to DES publications between 2001 and the beginning of 2012. The chief focuses are the two major application areas of deep eutectic solvents (DESs): metal processing and synthesis media. A large proportion of research effort has been focused on the use of DESs as alternative media for metals that are traditionally difficult to plate or process, or involve environmentally hazardous processes. DESs have also been proposed as environmentally benign alternatives for synthesis.

# **1.1. Deep Eutectic Solvents**

DESs contain large, nonsymmetric ions that have low lattice energy and hence low melting points. They are usually obtained by the complexation of a quaternary ammonium salt with a metal salt or hydrogen bond donor (HBD). The charge delocalization occurring through hydrogen bonding between for example a

Received: April 18, 2012

Published: October 10, 2014



© 2014 American Chemical Society

halide ion and the hydrogen-donor moiety is responsible for the decrease in the melting point of the mixture relative to the melting points of the individual components.<sup>1</sup> In a 2001 study by Abbott et al. a range of quaternary ammonium salts were heated with  $ZnCl_2$  and the freezing points of the resulting liquids measured. It was found that the lowest melting point, 23–25 °C, was obtained when choline chloride was used as the ammonium salt.<sup>1</sup> This initial study has been extended, and a range of liquids formed from eutectic mixtures of salts and hydrogen bond donors have now been developed.<sup>2</sup> These liquids were termed deep eutectic solvents to differentiate them from ionic liquids which contain only discrete anions. The term DES refers to liquids close to the eutectic composition of the mixtures, i.e., the molar ratio of the components which gives the lowest melting point (discussed in more detail in section 2).

Deep eutectic solvents can be described by the general formula

$$\operatorname{Cat}^{+} X^{-} z Y$$
 (1)

where Cat<sup>+</sup> is in principle any ammonium, phosphonium, or sulfonium cation, and X is a Lewis base, generally a halide anion. The complex anionic species are formed between X<sup>-</sup> and either a Lewis or Brønsted acid Y (*z* refers to the number of Y molecules that interact with the anion). The majority of studies have focused on quaternary ammonium and imidazolium cations with particular emphasis being placed on more practical systems using choline chloride, [ChCl, HOC<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub>N<sup>+</sup>(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>Cl<sup>-</sup>].

DESs are largely classified depending on the nature of the complexing agent used, see Table 1. DESs formed from  $MCl_x$ 

Table 1. General Formula for the Classification of DESs

type	general formula	terms
type I	$Cat^{+}X^{-}zMCl_{x}$	$M = Zn^{1,5,6}_{,1,5,6} Sn^{7}_{,7}$ Fe, Al <sup>8</sup> , Ga <sup>9</sup> <sub>,10</sub>
type II	$Cat^{+}X^{-}zMCl_{x}\cdot yH_{2}O$	M = Cr, <sup>11</sup> Co, Cu, Ni, Fe
type III	Cat <sup>+</sup> X <sup>-</sup> zRZ	Z = CONH <sub>2</sub> , <sup>12</sup> COOH, <sup>13</sup> OH <sup>14</sup>
type IV	$\frac{MCl_{x} + RZ}{MCl_{x+1}} = MCl_{x-1}^{+} \cdot RZ + \frac{MCl_{x+1}}{MCl_{x+1}}$	M = Al, Zn and Z = CONH <sub>2</sub> , OH

and quaternary ammonium salts, type I, can be considered to be of an analogous type to the well-studied metal halide/ imidazolium salt systems. Examples of type I eutectics include the well-studied chloroaluminate/imidazolium salt melts and less common ionic liquids formed with imidazolium salts and various metal halides including FeCl<sub>2</sub>,<sup>3</sup> and those featured in Scheffler and Thomson's study with EMIC and the following metal halides: AgCl, CuCl, LiCl, CdCl<sub>2</sub>, CuCl<sub>2</sub>, SnCl<sub>2</sub>, ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, LaCl<sub>3</sub>, YCl<sub>3</sub>, and SnCl<sub>4</sub>.<sup>4</sup>

The range of nonhydrated metal halides which have a suitably low melting point to form type I DESs is limited; however, the scope of deep eutectic solvents can be increased by using hydrated metal halides and choline chloride (type II DESs). The relatively low cost of many hydrated metal salts coupled with their inherent air/moisture insensitivity makes their use in large scale industrial processes viable.

Type III eutectics, formed from choline chloride and hydrogen bond donors, have been of interest due to their ability to solvate a wide range of transition metal species, including chlorides<sup>15</sup> and oxides.<sup>15,16</sup> A range of hydrogen bond donors have been studied to date, with deep eutectic solvents formed using amides, carboxylic acids, and alcohols (see Figure 1). These liquids are simple to prepare, and relatively unreactive with water; many are biodegradable and are relatively low cost. The wide range of



Figure 1. Structures of some halide salts and hydrogen bond donors used in the formation of deep eutectic solvents.

hydrogen bond donors available means that this class of deep eutectic solvents is particularly adaptable. The physical properties of the liquid are dependent upon the hydrogen bond donor and can be easily tailored for specific applications. Although the electrochemical windows are significantly smaller than those for some of the imidazolium salt–discrete anion ionic liquids, they are sufficiently wide to allow the deposition of metals such as Zn with high current efficiencies. This class of deep eutectic solvents have been shown to be particularly versatile, with a wide range of possible applications investigated including the removal of glycerol from biodiesel,<sup>17</sup> processing of metal oxides,<sup>16</sup> and the synthesis of cellulose derivatives.<sup>18</sup>

A majority of ionic liquids which are fluid at ambient temperatures are formed using an organic cation, generally based around ammonium, phosphonium, and sulfonium moieties. Inorganic cations generally do not form low melting point eutectics due to their high charge density; however, previous studies have shown that mixtures of metal halides with urea can form eutectics with melting points of <150 °C.<sup>19,20</sup> Abbott et al. have built upon this work and shown that a range of transition metals can be incorporated into ambient temperature eutectics, and these have now been termed type IV DESs. It would be expected that these metal salts would not normally ionize in nonaqueous media; however, ZnCl<sub>2</sub> has been shown to form eutectics with urea, acetamide, ethylene glycol, and 1,6-hexanediol.<sup>21</sup>

Most of the deep eutectics reviewed here are based on the quaternary ammonium cation: choline [also known as the cholinium cation, (2-hydroxyethyl)-trimethylammonium cation and  $HOCH_2CH_2N^+(CH_3)_3$ ]. This cation is nontoxic and has a comparatively low cost (when compared with imidazolium and pyridinium). It is classified as a provitamin in Europe and is produced on the megatonne scale as an animal feed supplement. It is produced by a one step gas phase reaction between HCl, ethylene oxide, and trimethylamine and as such produces negligible ancillary waste.

# 1.2. Brief Description of Ionic Liquids

While this review is not concerned with conventional ionic liquids, it seems prudent, nevertheless, to discuss them in brief as some comparison must be made between DESs and ILs. Ionic liquids (ILs) have been one of the most widely studied areas in science in the past decade and are probably subject to more reviews per research paper than any other current topic.<sup>22–24</sup>

The arbitrary definition that an ionic liquid is a class of fluid which consists of ions and are liquid at temperatures <100 °C was used traditionally to differentiate between ionic liquids and classical molten salts, which melt at higher temperatures; however, ionic liquids are now generally referred to as solvents which consist solely of ions. The traditional definition was first used to describe chloroaluminate based ionic fluids.<sup>25</sup> A major limitation of the chloroaluminate ionic liquids is their inherent air and moisture sensitivity, due to the rapid hydrolysis of AlCl<sub>3</sub> upon contact with moisture. The moisture sensitivity of these systems can be somewhat reduced by the replacement of AlCl<sub>3</sub> with more stable metal halides such as ZnCl<sub>2</sub> to form eutectic based ionic liquids.<sup>26</sup> The ionic liquids formed from organic cations with AlCl<sub>2</sub> and ZnCl<sub>2</sub> are often termed first generation ionic liquids.<sup>22</sup> This class of ionic liquids are fluid at low temperatures due to the formation of bulky chloroaluminate or chlorozincate ions at eutectic compositions of the mixture. This reduces the charge density of the ions, which in turn reduces the lattice energy of the system leading to a reduction in the freezing point of the mixture.

The second generation of ionic liquids are those that are entirely composed of discrete ions, rather than the eutectic mixture of complex ions seen in the first generation ionic liquids. Wilkes and Zaworotko, working with alkylimidazolium salts, discovered that air and moisture stable liquids could be synthesized by replacing the AlCl<sub>3</sub> used in the eutectic ionic liquids with discrete anions such as the tetrafluoroborate and acetate moieties.<sup>27</sup> Although generally air and moisture stable, some studies have observed that exposure to moisture affects their chemical and physical properties, with the development of HF as water content increases.<sup>28</sup> The stability of this class of ionic liquids can be improved by using more hydrophobic anions such as trifluoromethanesulfonate (CF<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), bis-(trifluoromethanesulphonyl)imide  $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N^-]$ , and tris-(trifluoromethanesulphonyl)methide  $[(CF_3SO_2)C^{-}]^{.28-30}$ These systems have the additional benefit of large electrochemical windows, allowing less noble metals, inaccessible from the chloroaluminate liquids, to be electrodeposited.<sup>28</sup>

In summary, the most widely used ionic liquids can be split into two distinct categories, those formed from eutectic mixtures of metal halides (such as  $AlCl_3$ ) and organic salts (generally nitrogen based and predominantly with halide anions), and those containing discrete anions such as  $PF_6$  or bis-(trifluoromethanesulphonyl) imide. It is estimated that the total number of possible ionic liquids could be in the range of  $10^6$ distinct systems. Clearly ionic liquids have the potential to be highly versatile solvents, with properties which can be easily tuned for specific uses. However, if ionic liquids are to be successful as viable alternatives to aqueous electrolytes, they must also be simple and economic to synthesize.<sup>31</sup>

#### 2. PROPERTIES OF DESs

While DESs and conventional ILs have different chemical properties, they have similar physical properties, in particular the potential as tunable solvents that can be customized to a particular type of chemistry; they also exhibit a low vapor pressure, relatively wide liquid-range, and nonflammability. DESs have several advantages over traditional ILs such as their ease of preparation, and easy availability from relatively inexpensive components (the components themselves are toxicologically well-characterized, so they can be easily shipped for large scale processing); they are, however, in general less chemically inert. The production of DESs involves the simple mixing of the two components, generally with moderate heating. This maintains a comparatively low production cost with respect to conventional ILs (such as imidazolium based liquids) and permits large scale applications. While the individual components of DESs tend to be individually well toxicologically characterized, there is very little information about the toxicological properties of the eutectic solvents themselves, and this needs to be further investigated by the scientific community. The data from the few publications addressing this issue is presented in section 2.6. The term deep eutectic solvent was coined initially to describe type III eutectics but has subsequently been used to describe all of the eutectic mixtures described above. This is a logical approach, and although this includes all of the early work on haloaluminates, this is already the subject of numerous reviews and will not be dealt with here other than in comparative terms.<sup>32–34</sup>

# 2.1. Phase Behavior

The difference in the freezing point at the eutectic composition of a binary mixture of A + B compared to that of a theoretical ideal mixture,  $\Delta T_{\rm fr}$  is related to the magnitude of the interaction between A and B. The larger the interaction; the larger will be  $\Delta T_{\rm fr}$ . This is shown schematically in Figure 2. Considering first



Figure 2. Schematic representation of a eutectic point on a twocomponent phase diagram.

the type I eutectics: the interactions between different metal halides and the halide anion from the quaternary ammonium salt will all produce similar halometallate species with similar enthalpies of formation. This suggests that  $\Delta T_{\rm f}$  values should be between 200 and 300 °C. It has been observed that to produce a eutectic at about ambient temperature the metal halide generally needs to have a melting point of approximately 300 °C or less. It is evident therefore why metal halides such as AlCl<sub>3</sub> (mp = 193 °C),<sup>35</sup> FeCl<sub>3</sub> (308),<sup>36</sup> SnCl<sub>2</sub> (247),<sup>37</sup> ZnCl<sub>2</sub> (290),<sup>37</sup> InCl<sub>3</sub> (586),<sup>38</sup> CuCl (423),<sup>39</sup> and GaCl<sub>3</sub> (78)<sup>40</sup> all produce ambient temperature eutectics. While unstudied to date, it could also be predicted that metal salts such as  $SbCl_3$  (mp = 73 °C), BeCl<sub>2</sub> (415), BiCl<sub>3</sub> (315), PbBr<sub>2</sub> (371), HgCl<sub>2</sub> (277), and TeCl<sub>2</sub> (208) should also form ambient temperature eutectics. The same is true of the quaternary ammonium salts where it is the less symmetrical cations which have a lower melting point and therefore lead to lower melting point eutectics. This explains why imidazolium halides  $C_2$ mimCl (mp = 87 °C) and  $C_4$ mimCl (65 °C) have superior phase behavior and mass transport to ChCl (301 °C).

Type II eutectics were developed in an attempt to include other metals into the DES formulations. It was found that metal halide hydrates have lower melting points than the corresponding anhydrous salt. Clearly the waters of hydration decrease the melting point of metal salts because they decrease the lattice energy. As Figure 2 shows, a lower melting point of the pure metal salt will produce a smaller depression of freezing point  $\Delta T_{\rm fr}$ . This correlation can be seen in Figure 3 for the data presented in



**Figure 3.** Correlation between the freezing temperature and the depression of freezing point for metal salts and amides when mixed with choline chloride in 2:1 ratio, where the individual points represent different mixtures.

the literature  $(Table 2)^{1,11,12,41}$  and arises because salts with a lower lattice energy will tend to have smaller interactions with the chloride anion. The only system fully described to date is that of  $CrCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ , <sup>11</sup> although others including  $CaCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O$ ,  $MgCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O$ ,  $CoCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O$ ,  $LaCl_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ , and  $CuCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$  are

Table 2. Freezing Point Temperatures of a Selection of DESs

described in the patent literature.<sup>2</sup> Most of the systems studied have had phase diagrams similar to that shown in Figure 2; a small number of systems containing  $AlCl_3$ ,  $FeCl_3$ , and  $SnCl_2$  have each shown two eutectic points when mixed with imidazolium chlorides at approximately 33% and 66% metal halide. The type III eutectic mixtures depend upon the formation of hydrogen bonds between the halide anion of the salt and the HBD; where these HBDs are multifunctional, the eutectic point tends to be toward a 1:1 molar ratio of salt and HBD.<sup>13</sup> In the same study the depression of freezing point was shown to be related to the mass fraction of HBD in the mixture.

#### 2.2. Density, Viscosity, Conductivity, and Surface Tension

Mjalli et al. proposed a method for predicting the density for DESs at different temperatures.<sup>43</sup> The values of measured and predicted densities were compared, and the average of absolute relative percentage error (ARPE) for all the DESs tested was found to be 1.9%. The effect of salt to HBD molar ratio on ARPE in predicted DES densities was also investigated. The same group has also studied DESs formed from phosphonium based salts with different hydrogen bond donors.<sup>44</sup> Melting temperature, density, viscosity, pH, conductivity, and dissolved oxygen content were measured as a function of temperature. The authors found that the type of salt and HBD and the mole ratio of both compounds had a significant effect on the studied properties.

Table 3 shows selected typical physical properties for a variety of DESs at the eutectic composition at 298 K and compares this with ionic liquids with discrete anions and some molecular solvents. DESs are quite high in terms of their viscosity and lower

halide salt	mp/°C	hydrogen bond donor (HBD)	$mp/^{\circ}C$	salt:HBD (molar ratio)	DES $T_{\rm f}/^{\circ}{\rm C}$	ref
ChCl	303	urea	134	1:2	12	13
ChCl	303	thiourea	175	1:2	69	12
ChCl	303	1-methyl urea	93	1:2	29	12
ChCl	303	1,3-dimethyl urea	102	1:2	70	12
ChCl	303	1,1-dimethyl urea	180	1:2	149	12
ChCl	303	acetamide	80	1:2	51	12
ChCl	303	banzamide	129	1:2	92	12
ChCl	303	ethylene glycol	-12.9	1:2		
ChCl	303	glycerol	17.8			
ChCl	303	adipic acid	153	1:1	85	13
ChCl	303	benzoic acid	122	1:1	95	13
ChCl	303	citric acid	149	1:1	69	13
ChCl	303	malonic acid	134	1:1	10	13
ChCl	303	oxalic acid	190	1:1	34	13
ChCl	303	phenylacetic acid	77	1:1	25	13
ChCl	303	phenylpropionic acid	48	1:1	20	13
ChCl	303	succinic acid	185	1:1	71	13
ChCl	303	tricarballylic acid	159	1:1	90	13
ChCl	303	$MgCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O$	116	1:1	16	42
methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide	231-233	glycerol	17.8		-4.03	44
methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide	231-233	ethylene glycol	-12.9		-49.34	44
methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide	231-233	2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide	73-75		-69.29	44
benzyltriphenylphosphonium chloride	345-347	glycerol	17.8		50.36	44
benzyltriphenylphosphonium chloride	345-347	ethylene glycol	-12.9		47.91	44
benzyltriphenylphosphonium chloride	345-347	2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide	73-75		99.72	44
$ZnCl_2$	293	urea	134		9	21
$ZnCl_2$	293	acetamide	81		-16	21
ZnCl <sub>2</sub>	293	ethylene glycol	-12.9		-30	21
ZnCl <sub>2</sub>	293	hexanediol	42		-23	21

Table 3. Physical Properties of DESs, Ionic Liquids, and Molecular Solvents at 298 K<sup>a</sup>

salt (mol equiv )	HBD (mol equiv )	viscosity/cP	conductivity/mS cm <sup>-1</sup>	density/g $cm^{-3}$	surface tension/mN $\rm{m}^{-1}$
ChCl (1)	urea (2)	632	0.75	1.24	52
ChCl (1)	ethylene glycol (2)	36	7.61	1.12	49
ChCl (1)	glycerol (2)	376	1.05	1.18	55.8
ChCl (1)	malonic acid (1)	721	0.55		65.7
C <sub>4</sub> mimCl	AlCl <sub>3</sub>	19	9.2	1.33	
ChCl (1)	CrCl <sub>3</sub> ·6H <sub>2</sub> O	2346	0.37		77.3
$C_4 mim BF_4$		115	3.5	1.14	46.6
C <sub>4</sub> mim(CF <sub>3</sub> CO <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> N		69	3.9	1.43	37.5
	ethanol	1.04		0.785	22.39
<sup>a</sup> Data taken from refs 1, 3	3, 13, 44.				

in terms of their conductivity than other ionic liquids and molecular solvents. The origin of this disparity is proposed to be due to the large size of the ions and relatively free volume in the ionic systems. The viscosity of the ionic liquids is much higher than most common molecular solvents, and the change in viscosity with temperature is found to alter in an Arrhenius manner with large values for the activation energy for viscous flow. This was shown to empirically correlate to the ratio of the ion size and the average radius of the voids in the liquid<sup>13</sup> (see section 2.3).

It is generally observed that there is a good linear correlation between the molar conductivity,  $\Lambda$ , of an ionic liquid and the fluidity (reciprocal of viscosity,  $\eta$ ).<sup>23</sup> The same correlation is observed with DESs. This has previously been mistakenly attributed to the validity of the Walden rule,  $\Lambda \eta$  = constant. This is valid for a given electrolyte at infinite dilution in a range of solvents. Abbott showed that as a consequence of hole theory it is not the ions that limit charge transport but rather the holes which are at infinite dilution. Using this model it can be shown that the Nernst-Einstein equation is valid. The refractive index of choline chloride based liquids with the hydrogen bond donors glycerol, ethylene glycol, and 1,4-butanediol have been measured and compared to the predicted values using an atomic contribution method. It was found that it was possible to predict the refractive indexes of these liquids using the method chosen, where it was found that the refractive index lay between the values for the salt and the HBD.45 Unsurprisingly, with the relationship between viscosity and temperature, it has been shown that the electrical conductivity of DESs is temperature dependent.<sup>46</sup> The effective polarity of choline chloride combined with four HBDs, 1,2-ethanediol, glycerol, urea, and malonic acid, has been predicted, and all four liquids were found to be fairly dipolar.47

# 2.3. Hole Theory and Ionicity

The use of deep eutectics has in some cases been limited by their increased viscosity and hence reduced conductivity when compared to aqueous electrolytes. Few studies have been carried out to comprehend the fluid properties of either conventional ionic liquids or DESs. However, numerous models have been developed to account for the motion of ions in high temperature ionic liquids (molten salts), on the basis of the observation that the liquid volume and free volume of the liquid increase upon melting. The motion of ions in DESs has been rationalized using physical properties in hole theory.<sup>48–50,41</sup> Hole theory assumes that, on melting, ionic material contains empty spaces that arise from thermally generated fluctuations in local density. The holes are of random size and location, and undergo constant flux. The

radius of the average sized void (r), is related to the surface tension of the liquid,  $\gamma$ , by

$$4\pi(r^2) = \frac{3.5kT}{\gamma} \tag{2}$$

where k is the Boltzmann constant and T the absolute temperature.

The average size of the holes in molten salts is of similar dimensions to that of the corresponding ion, so it is relatively easy for a small ion to move into a vacant site, and accordingly, viscosity of the liquid is low. However, the average size of holes will be smaller in lower temperature systems, coupled with a larger ion size this makes ion mobility difficult and explains why viscosities can be as high as  $10^1-10^3$  Pa.

To quantify the viscosity of DESs it is assumed that cavities are not formed, but simply exist and move in the opposite direction to solvent ions/molecules. At any moment in time, a fluid will have a given distribution of cavity sizes, and an ion will only be able to move if there is an adjacent cavity volume of suitable dimension. It is assumed that, at any moment in time, only a fraction of the solvent molecules are capable of moving, giving rise to the inherent viscosity of the fluid. The probability of finding an ion-sized hole in a high temperature salt is orders of magnitude larger than in its low temperature counterpart. By assuming the limiting factor in the viscosity of liquids is not the thermodynamics of hole formation, but the probability of vacancy location, then modeling fluidity becomes significantly easier. It was shown that accurate prediction of conductivity in ILs and DESs could be achieved.48 Probability density and average size of free volumes within such liquids can be predicted using the Stokes-Einstein equation. The application of hole theory to modeling viscosity helps with the design of low viscosity DESs. To obtain optimum mobility the ions must be relatively small, but the liquid must contain large cavities. This can be obtained by producing a liquid with low surface tension and hence larger voids. This theory is also valid for ionic liquids with discrete anions.

Taylor et al. studied the diffusion of modified ferrocenes in imidazolium ionic liquids, and analysis of the data showed that the diffusion coefficient did not obey the Stokes' equation, but rather there was a significant change in the calculated radius with temperature.<sup>51</sup> This was explained in terms of the size of the holes in the liquid, and it was shown that mass transport occurred by a hopping mechanism. This was confirmed by Mantle et al., who describe the first pulsed field gradient nuclear magnetic resonance (PEG-NMR) study of DESs.<sup>52</sup> The molecular equilibrium self-diffusion coefficient of both the choline cation and hydrogen bond donor was probed using a standard stimulated echo PFG-NMR pulse sequence. The authors

illustrated that increasing the temperature led to a weaker interaction between the choline cation and the corresponding HBD. The findings also highlighted that the molecular structure of the HBD can greatly affect the mobility of the whole system. In ChCl:EG, ChCl:glycerol, and ChCl:urea the choline cation diffuses more slowly than the associated HBD, reflecting the trend of molecular size and molecular weight. The opposite behavior is observed for ChCl:malonic acid, where the malonic acid diffuses more slowly than the choline cation; the authors attributed this to the formation of extensive dimer chains between malonic acid molecules, restricting the mobility of the whole system at low temperature.

# 2.4. Electrochemical Behavior

In electrochemical applications, the behavior of electrolytes at an electrified interface is an important property; Silva et al. have investigated the electrochemical properties of ChCl based DESs. The properties of the interfaces between platinum, gold, and glassy carbon electrodes and a ChCl: glycerol DES were assessed using cyclic voltammetry and electrochemical impedance spectroscopy.53 The double layer differential capacitance, obtained from electrochemical impedance, revealed that the capacitance curve of the ChCl:glycerol DES depends on the material of the working electrode. The values of capacitance were within the range of values reported for RTILs and have a similar shape dependence on the applied potential. The work revealed that differential capacitance increased with temperature in contrast to high temperature molten salts for all the electrodes examined with the exception of Au, where a crossing point in the capacitance curves was observed. The electrical interfaces of six different DESs based on choline chloride with 1,2-ethanediol, 1,2-propanediol, 1,3-propanediol, urea, and thiourea or acetylcholine chloride with urea were studied at a Hg electrode.<sup>54</sup> The CVs (Figure 4) did not show any current peaks which could be attributed to charge transfer processes within the potential limits chosen. In the ChCl:urea DES a pair of sharp peaks was observed around 0 V, similar to those observed for aqueous thiourea solution on Hg. After further investigation the authors tentatively attributed this to the formation of a film at the surface of the Hg electrode. The negative limit of polarization was



**Figure 4.** CVs of four DESs at a Hg working electrode: ethaline (1 ChCl:2 ethylene glycol), 1,2-propeline (1 ChCl:2 1,2-propanediol), 1,3-propeline (1 ChCl:2 1,3-propanediol), and reline (1 ChCl:2 urea) at 40, 50, and 60  $^{\circ}$ C (50 mV/s). Reproduced with permission from ref 54. Copyright 2010 Elsevier.

observed to be dependent on the hydrogen bond donor with the limit increasing in the following order: 1,3-propanediol < urea < ethylene glycol <1,2-propanediol. Increasing temperature of the DES increased the observed capacitive current and decreased the electrochemical window. While the electrochemical windows of these liquids are not as large as in some conventional ionic liquids, they are wider than one might expect from a protic solvent (which these essentially are). Even though the concentration of protons can be fairly high in these liquids, the reduction of protons is not observed which is consistent with the idea that the protons are strongly bound to the chloride ions.

The differential capacitance curves for ethaline (1 ChCl:2 ethylene glycol), 1,2-propeline (1 ChCl:2 1,2-propanediol), 1,3propeline (1 ChCl:2 1,3-propanediol), and reline (1 ChCl:2 urea) were nearly identical (Figure 5) The capacitance is constant at potentials negative of the point of zero charge (pzc). Replacing the diol hydrogen bond donor with urea only caused a change in the differential capacitance curves at a potential close to 0 V. The authors suggest that, similar to aqueous or organic electrolytes, at large negative potentials the structure of the interface comprises a layer of choline cations separated from the electrode surface by a layer of HBD molecules. As the potential becomes less negative the capacitance rises steeply suggesting the replacement of choline cations by the adsorption of anions. The minor effect of the HBD on the differential capacitance suggests



**Figure 5.** Differential capacitance curves measured at a Hg working electrode in ethaline (1 ChCl:2 ethylene glycol), 1,2-propeline (1 ChCl:2 1,2-propanediol), 1,3-propeline (1 ChCl:2 1,3-propanediol), and reline (1 ChCl:2 urea) at 60 °C. Reproduced with permission from ref 54. Copyright 2010 Elsevier.

the anion absorbed is mainly the chloride anion which is uncoordinated to the HBD. Replacing the choline with the acethylcholine cation (or replacing urea with the HBD thiourea) does not cause any change in the capacitance at large negative potentials. These results were taken by the authors as further support for a Helmholtz type layer model of the double layer at large negative potentials, comprising choline cations separated from the electrode surface by a layer of HBD molecules.

One of the critical issues is at which composition do DESs start to lose their ionic character and become predominantly a salt dissolved in a HBD. Abbott et al. proposed that DESs became more like ionic solutions when charge transport became iondominated rather than hole-dominated. The authors defined that adherence of data to the Nernst–Einstein equation showed that charge carriers are at infinite dilution; i.e., they are holes. Once the concentration of salt fell below 20 mol % the molar conductivity was significantly above that predicted showing that ions dominated charge transport.<sup>41</sup>

Many of the applications in which DESs are currently employed involve the dissolution of metal ions in the liquid; it is therefore vital to understand how these metal ions behave when dissolved in a DES. Deviations from ideal behavior are notoriously difficult to characterize in molecular solvents. Abbott et al. have used equilibrium electrochemical measurements to determine activity coefficients for metal salts in DESs and ascertained how these vary with concentration.<sup>56</sup> In principle there is no difference in the way in which metal ions (M) behave in DESs and any molecular solvent (S). The metal ion interacts with whatever ligands (L) are available, and the equilibrium constant and hence species present are dependent upon the concentration of salt in solution and the relative Lewis or Brønsted acidity.

$$M^{x+} + yL + zS \Leftrightarrow [ML_yS_z]^{x+}$$
(3)

For most systems the solvent species is neutral and a relatively weak ligand. The chemistry of ligands in water naturally dominates, and the activity of the ligand is controlled by the ligand–solvent interaction. However, in a DES the solvent species that dominates complexation is the anion which has a significant Lewis basicity, as it is usually present in 5–10 mol dm<sup>-3</sup> concentration meaning that, generally, even strong ligands can be displaced.<sup>55</sup>

An understanding of the activity of a solute in solution is vital for utilizing the full potential of a reactive species. Abbott et al. studied the activity of silver ions, copper ions, and protons in ChCl:EG. Plotting *E* versus ln(m) they were able to prove that the change in the redox potential with molality for all three solutes obeys the Nernst equation for an ideal solution:

$$E = \frac{RT}{nF} \ln \left( \frac{m_1 \gamma_1}{m_2 \gamma_2} \right) \tag{4}$$

Here *E* is the equilibrium redox potential, *R* is the gas constant, *T* is the absolute temperature, *F* is the Faraday constant, *n* is the number of electrons, *m* is the molality of the solute, and 1 and 2 refer to the reference and test cells, respectively. The Ag/Ag<sup>+</sup> and  $Cu^{2+/+}$  redox couple shows close to ideal behavior, suggesting that the ionic matrix shields the metal ions from each other, ensuring that they behave independently. Using a standard DES hydrogen electrode as a reference point, Abbott et al. were able to calculate a standard redox potential for the Ag<sup>+/0</sup> and  $Cu^{2+/+}$  system, + 0.034 and +0.58 V, respectively. The disparity from the aqueous standard redox potentials was attained to the difference in speciation of the metals in the two solvent systems. The observed ideal behavior through Coulombic shielding in DESs reinforces the hypothesis that DESs behave like molten salts and can thus be considered as ILs.<sup>56</sup>

An electrochemical series for the redox potentials of a range of metal couples has been developed for the 1 ChCl:2 ethylene glycol DES and compared to the analogous values in aqueous medium with the internal reference  $[FeCN_6]^{3./4.57}$  Formal potentials were determined using 20 mM of the metal salt, and appropriate compensation was made for concentration and small temperature differences using the Nernst equation. Couples involving oxophilic p-block elements such as Ga and Sb showed the largest positive deviations from the line of equivalence. The

largest negative deviations were observed for couples of the chlorophilic late transition elements including Ag, Pd, and Au. These correlations and deviations were explained by speciation effects in the high chloride environment of the DES. This medium tends to stabilize the higher oxidation states of the chlorophilic late transition metals and destabilize those of the oxophilic p-block elements, increasing and decreasing the formal potentials, respectively. Interestingly, iodine is a stronger oxidizing agent in the 1 ChCl:2 ethylene glycol DES than in water. Molecular I<sub>2</sub> has a low solubility in aqueous media in contrast to many DESs; this permits the chemical oxidation of elemental metal by dissolved I<sub>2</sub> which can be exploited in metal processing, separation/recovery, and recycling technologies.

#### 2.5. Speciation

The ionic nature and relatively high polarity of DESs mean that many ionic species, such as metal salts, show high solubility. One of the key questions when considering the reactivity of a metal in a DES is the species that form upon dissolution. Metal ions being generally Lewis acidic will complex with Lewis or Brønsted bases to form a variety of complexes. In aqueous solvents, the chemistry of H<sup>+</sup> and OH<sup>-</sup> dominate the species formed in solution, the redox properties, and the solubility of metals. The study of metal ion speciation in DESs has only started recently; unfortunately, the systems are more complex than aqueous solutions because of the differing Lewis basicities of the anions and composition of the eutectic. It is vital to understand speciation in DESs when trying to determine the mechanisms of nucleation and growth of metallic coatings, because the number and binding constants of the ligands determine the detailed mechanistic steps associated with electrochemical reduction. One of the reasons speciation is poorly understood is the difficulty in acquiring quantitative structural data. Most metals form ionic complexes that are difficult or impossible to crystallize from solution, and of course evaporation of the solvent is not possible. A series of in situ techniques are required to assimilate metal ligation in solution.55

X-ray absorption fine structure (EXAFS) arises from a modulation in intensity of the X-ray absorption edge by interference with photoelectrons backscattered from neighboring atoms. Fourier transformation provides a radial distribution function in real space within a radius of approximately 600 pm. EXAFS is element specific and shows the local arrangement around the excited element, even for low concentrations. To date EXAFS has been used to study ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, CuCl<sub>2</sub>, and AgCl in both ChCl:EG and ChCl:urea DESs. It was found that ZnCl<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> and CuCl<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> were present in the former solutions whereas the last liquid contained a mixture of  $AgCl_2^-$  and  $AgCl_3^{2-,58-60}$  While these results are intuitively consistent with the high Cl<sup>-</sup> ion concentration (ca. 4.8 M) in both of these liquids, it suggests that the coordination chemistry of the zinc ions at the electrode surface controls the deposition mechanism and further complicates the elucidation of these processes. A study by do Nacimeno et al. used soft X-ray absorption spectroscopy to probe solute-solvent interactions in ChCl:urea mixtures with a nitrate salt.<sup>61</sup> The authors experienced significant problems with the signal of the solvent, but were able to detect solute signals, and see spectral changes attributed to solvent-solute interactions. The differential spectrum obtained from subtraction of the spectra of sodium nitrate dissolved in DES with pure DES was almost the same of that of pure nitrate indicating no strong interaction between the choline cation and nitrate anion.

#### 2.6. Green Credentials

Ionic liquids have been described as "green solvents" largely because of their low vapor pressure. However, this is a misnomer, and in recent years the toxicity and biotoxicity of ILs have been investigated which has proven that they are not inherently "green".<sup>62</sup> DESs may offer a "greener" alternative to many traditional ILs, but they are also not by definition "green". With the above formulations describing in excess of 10<sup>6</sup> liquids, some DESs will be inherently nontoxic being composed of benign constituents. Types I, II, and IV eutectics all contain metal salts with their innate toxicity; however, type III eutectics can encompass a variety of amides and polyols such as urea, glycerol, ethylene glycol, fructose, and erythritol, etc., which have low inherent toxicity (some formulations can even be produced using food grade ingredients).

To date most of the applications of DESs have been focused in the area of metal finishing, and relative toxicity has to be compared with the aqueous mineral acids that they seek to replace. Matthijs et al. have carried out a study on the environmental impact of the DES based on choline chloride and ethylene glycol in electroplating applications.<sup>63</sup> Both components are nonharmful to the environment, and both are readily biodegradable, with the resultant DES also readily biodegradable. Hence, the main environmental impact for the process was found to be related to the presence of heavy metals in rinsing solutions and products formed during electrolysis due to incomplete current efficiency at the cathode and anode reactions. After surface treatment in the DES electroplating bath, a film of the bath solution will remain on the parts and on the rack or barrel. The bath solution also remains in cavities or gaps and is transferred into subsequent baths. Process solution lost in this way is termed drag-out. Drag-out leads to the consumption of the plating bath and is a source of pollutants in the rinsewater. Matthijs et al. found that drag-out was the most influencing parameter on the environmental impact of the process, as it was three times higher compared to classical solutions due to the higher viscosity of the DES. However, they state that the ethylene glycol:choline chloride based liquid was not harmful for the environment compared to most ILs, and rinsewater can be treated with ion exchange to remove any metals.

The same group has addressed the environmental impact of the byproducts produced from the system during electroplating in a separate paper.<sup>64</sup> The authors observed the formation of several decomposition products such as 2-methyl-1,3-dioxolane and proposed some possible mechanisms for their formation. A range of chlorinated products such as chloromethane, dichloromethane, and chloroform were also detected, though chlorine gas evolution was not observed at the anode. The presence of the chlorinated products was ascribed to the existence of  $Cl_3^-$  in the solution, which was observed photometrically. The presence of chlorinated products did give rise to a large environmental impact; however, it was shown that the presence of chlorinate compounds could be reduced by the addition of water and that formation of 2-methyl-1,3-dioxolane could be reduced by the addition of sacrificial agents.

DESs do have lower vapor pressures than most molecular solvents which decrease their emission to the atmosphere; however, they are partly miscible with water and could inevitably end up in the aqueous environment. For DESs to be truly "green" a method for recycling needs to be ascertained along with methods to remove DESs from aqueous environments. Matthijs et al. have investigated the use of pressure driven membrane processes, nanofiltration, reverse osmosis, and pervaporation as possible techniques for the recycling of DESs.<sup>65</sup> In electrodeposition processes DESs are likely to end up in the rinsewater; in other applications, DESs will have to be separated from water or solvents, e.g., the production of zeolites, Suzuki coupling reactions, and cellulose processing. Separation of water from a DES could be achieved by evaporation; however, this is very energy consuming and requires higher temperatures, at which some DESs may decompose.

Although components of a DES can be nontoxic and of low environmental impact. It does not necessarily follow that mixtures of these components will be non toxic and inherently "green". This is underpinned by the fact the DESs have special properties that neither of the individual components have. The toxicity and cytotoxicity of choline chloride with the HBDs glycerine, ethylene glycol, triethylene glycol, and urea have been investigated by Hayyan et al.<sup>66,67</sup> They found that the cytotoxicity of the DESs was much higher than their individual components and the toxicity and cytotoxicity varied depending on the structure of the components. It is clear that more investigation is needed into the toxicity of DESs before they can truly be claimed as nontoxic and biodegradable.

Deep eutectic solvent technology has been applied to a wideranging area of research topics from the lubrication of steel/steel contacts;<sup>68</sup> to an alternative electrolyte to water, or conventional organic solvent for the study of electronically conducting polymers;<sup>69</sup> to their use in analytical devices for the recognition of analytes such as lithium and sodium ions,<sup>70</sup> synthesizing drug solubilization vehicles,<sup>71,72</sup> an electrolyte for dye-sensitized solar cells,<sup>73</sup> and the DES-assisted synthesis of hierarchical carbon electrodes for capacitors.<sup>74</sup> The major research effort to date has been concentrated on replacement solvents for metal finishing applications; however, in the past few years the number of groups investigating the potential of DESs as alternative solvents for organic synthesis has also increased, and hence, the output of papers in this area is also increasing.

# 3. METAL PROCESSING APPLICATIONS

The traditional electrofinishing industry is based on aqueous systems because of the high solubility of electrolytes and metal salts in water, resulting in highly conducting solutions. However, the technology is not ideal, water has a relatively narrow potential window, and so the deposition of some metals is hindered by poor current efficiencies and/or hydrogen embrittlement of the substrate. Further problems are faced by the industry with legislation due to limiting the applications of aqueous Cr, and the Co and Ni plating sector is becoming ever more affected by toxicity issues and the rising price of metals.

Currently, the major applications for DESs involve the incorporation of metal ions in solution for metal deposition, metal dissolution, or metal processing. The key advantages of using DESs over aqueous electrolytes are the high solubility of metal salts, the absence of water, and high conductivity compared to nonaqueous solvents. The potential windows of DESs are wider than aqueous solutions but less than some ionic liquids with discrete anions such as  $BF_4^-$  or  $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]^-$ . Conventional ILs are not the focus of this review; comprehensive information and in depth analysis of electrodeposition in conventional ionic liquids are given in two reviews.<sup>75,83</sup> As DESs are comparatively inexpensive when compared to conventional ILs and are much easier to produce in large scale batches, the scale-up and commercialization of DES based processes in the metal finishing and metal extraction industries have been, and still are, the subject of a number of EU and TSB

funded projects.<sup>76,77</sup> The research involving metal processing has been divided into three broad topics in this review: metal electrodeposition, metal electropolishing, and metal extraction and the processing of metal oxides. The section starts by discussing metal electrodeposition where the greater part of the work in this area has been as an alternative medium for environmentally hazardous processes.

# 3.1. Metal Electrodeposition

Almost the entire electroplating sector is currently based on aqueous acidic or basic solutions although some specialist applications do use organic solvents,<sup>78</sup> but this is not commonplace. The industry has become adept at working around the constraints enforced by using water as a solvent. Zn, Ni, Cr, Co, Cu, Ag, and Au are all successfully plated with the use of brighteners and additives. More exotic metals can be deposited using plasma or chemical vapor techniques, allowing the coating of a wide range of substrates (metal, plastic, glass, ceramic, etc., with metals, alloys, or composites). The major issue with this technique is the high capital investment and running costs that have limited it to niche markets and high value products. Ideally, electroplating solutions should be low cost, nonflammable, have high solubility of metal salts, high conductivity, low ohmic loss and good throwing power, high rates of mass transport, and high electrochemical stability. As discussed above, the main limitations of aqueous based systems are their electrochemical stability; limited potential windows result in gas evolution leading to hydrogen embrittlement, and passivation of substrates, electrodes, and deposits. DESs have a high solubility for metal salts; unusually, this also includes metal oxides and hydroxides, which gives these systems an advantage over aqueous and organic based electrolytes. Passivation is often a problem in aqueous solutions due to formation of nonsoluble oxides and/or hydroxides on the surface of the electrode which inhibit the deposition of the target metal and can cause problems when thick metal films need to be deposited. Thicker metal films can be more easily deposited in DESs because the passivation effect is not observed due to the high solubility of metal oxides and hydroxides in DESs. The need for hazardous complexing agents (such as cyanide) in aqueous solvents causes a problem for the electroplating industry due to legal restrictions because of the inherent toxicity associated with the additives and the often high disposal costs. Water is not inherently a green solvent; although it is nontoxic, all solutes must be removed before it is returned to the watercourse.79

Although it may be difficult to compete economically with existing plating systems for common metal applications, DESs can provide suitable media for the many technological goals of the industry.<sup>8081</sup> The replacement of environmentally toxic metal coatings, deposition of new alloys and semiconductors, and new coating methods for the deposition of corrosion resistant metals such as Ti, Al, and W<sup>82–84</sup> have the potential to all be achieved in suitable DES systems. DESs may offer practical solutions to circumvent legal restrictions to technologically important plating systems such as Ni, Co, and Cr where many of the aqueous precursors are known carcinogens.

A range of metal reduction processes have been studied in DESs, including Zn,<sup>85,86,83</sup> Sn, Cu,<sup>59,87</sup> Ni,<sup>96</sup> Ag,<sup>60</sup> Cr,<sup>11</sup> Al,<sup>88</sup> Co,<sup>89</sup> and Sm.<sup>89</sup> Metal deposits can be obtained under either constant current or constant voltage regimes, and the morphology and adhesion of the deposit are often strongly dependent on current density, as observed in aqueous electrolytes; the morphology of metal deposits can also be tuned by

varying DES composition and using additives. Five metal deposition processes have been studied in considerable detail or are worthy of detailed discussion: chromium, aluminum, copper, nickel, and zinc. Each of these highlights different aspects of metal ion behavior which are different from aqueous solutions and need to be considered in large scale applications. DESs are now emerging as suitable media for the shape-controlled synthesis of nanoparticles which could be key in applications such as electrocatalysts, electrochemical sensors, air batteries, and fuel cells.

**3.1.1. Chrome Plating.** Hard chromium deposition using hexavalent chromium is a mature industry with technology highly optimized. There is however one stumbling block: the toxicity of hexavalent chromium is a significant concern and soon due to be limited by legislation. There are some Cr<sup>III</sup> processes on the market, but trials with the less toxic trivalent chrome salt have had variable results. The electrodeposition of chromium (see Figure 6) from a dark green, viscous DES formed between



**Figure 6.** SEM image of a chrome deposit formed following the electrolysis of 1:2 ChCl:CrCl<sub>3</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O at 60 °C for 2 h onto a nickel electrode at current density of 0.345 mA cm<sup>-2</sup> (bar =10  $\mu$ m). Reproduced with permission from ref 11. Copyright 2005 Wiley.

choline chloride and the trivalent chrome salt, CrCl<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O, has been reported.<sup>11,90</sup> A hydrated metal salt is used, but this is not a concentrated aqueous solution as all the water molecules are either coordinated to the chrome center or associated with the free chloride ions; subsequently, the activity of water is low, and the process can be operated at very high current efficiency (typically >90%). Chromium coatings can be obtained in several morphologies by tuning the Cr(III) based electrolyte, for instance, dull black (soft, but not microcracked), dull gray metallic (hard >700 HV, increasing to 1400-1500 HV upon heat treatment), or mirror bright (usually very thin). These coatings have different applications as replacement technologies for Cr(VI) electrolytes in thermal, wear resistant, and decorative coatings. The addition of LiCl to the ChCl:CrCl<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O mixture was found to allow the deposition of crack free, nanocrystalline black chromium films which gave good corrosion resistance.<sup>91</sup>

**3.1.2. Aluminum Plating.** The electrodeposition of Al is an important technological target as it has not been possible from aqueous electrolytes. It is the stability of the oxides of corrosion resistant materials that make the metals difficult to extract from minerals and apply as surface coatings. Al electroplating is currently carried out commercially using organic solvents in the SIGAL-process; however, the combination of toluene and

triethylaluminum makes this electrolyte highly flammable and pyrophoric so an alternative electrolyte would be welcomed by industry. A lot of research has been focused on the deposition of aluminum from conventional ILs, but the hygroscopic nature of AlCl<sub>3</sub> based ILs has delayed the progress in their use in many applications since they must be prepared and handled under inert gas atmosphere.<sup>92</sup>

Al deposition has been achieved using type I eutectics, but the anodic reaction was slow and rate limiting. Recent developments using type IV eutectics have demonstrated that it is not necessary to have a quaternary ammonium cation in order to plate Al.<sup>88</sup> The anodic reaction is still slow and needs to be addressed to increase deposition rate, but the potential of this liquid is that just by adding a simple amide to AlCl<sub>3</sub> an electrolyte is formed that is relatively insensitive to water. Characterization of the liquid shows it to contain both anionic and cationic aluminum containing species,  $[AlCl_2 \cdot urea]^+$  and  $[AlCl_4]^-$ , and it is a suitable medium both for the electrodeposition of Al metal and the acetylation of ferrocene.

3.1.3. Copper Plating. Popescu et al. have electrodeposited Cu from CuCl<sub>2</sub> dissolved in ChCl combined with the hydrogen bond donors: urea, malonic acid, oxalic acid, and ethylene glycol.<sup>93</sup> To assess which DES was most suited to Cu plating the subsequent copper deposits were compared using optical microscopy and X-ray diffraction (XRD). Of the four DESs studied it was found that better deposits, i.e., fine, homogeneous, and adherent deposits, were obtained in ChCl:oxalic acid and ChCl:ethylene glycol. Murtomaki et al. have studied the electron transfer kinetics of the  $Cu^+/Cu^{2+}$  redox couple using chronoamperommetry, cyclic voltammetry, and impedance spectroscopy in ChCl:ethylene glycol.<sup>94</sup> The reaction was found to be quasireversible, and the authors reported the metal species present to be Cu<sup>+</sup> and Cu<sup>2+</sup>, determined using UV-vis spectroscopy; the prevailing Cu<sup>+</sup> complex was found to be  $[CuCl_3]^{2-}$  and that of  $Cu^{2+}$   $[CuCl_4]^{2-}$ . Pollet et al. have reported the effects of ultrasound at different powers and frequencies on the electrodeposition of CuCl<sub>2</sub> in both aqueous KCl and ChCl:glycerol.<sup>95</sup> The authors demonstrated that the deposition of copper was greatly affected by ultrasound in both solvents, with a 5-fold increase in the current observed in ChCl:glycerol compared to silent conditions, i.e., when ultrasound was not applied.

**3.1.4. Nickel Plating.** Recent studies have demonstrated the electrolytic deposition of nickel from nickel chloride dihydrate dissolved in ChCl:urea and ChCl:ethylene glycol.<sup>96</sup> The deposition kinetics and thermodynamics were found to differ from the aqueous process, resulting in different deposit morphologies. Bright metal coatings were obtained by adding the brightening agents ethylenediamine (en) and acetylacetonate (acac), and deposits were put directly onto substrates such as aluminum without prior treatment. Guo et al. have tailored nickel coatings by electrodepositing onto copper from a ChCl:urea DES containing nicotinic acid.<sup>97</sup> The affect of nicotinic acid on the voltammetric behavior of Ni(II) was investigated, and it was found that nicotinic acid inhibited Ni deposition, acting as a brightener, producing highly uniform and smooth Ni deposits.

Thermochromic solutions (i.e., solutions that reversibly change color in response to heating and cooling) have been prepared by Gu et al. by dissolving transition metal chlorides such as NiCl<sub>2</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O, CrCl<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O, FeCl<sub>3</sub>, and CoCl<sub>2</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O in ChCl:ethylene glycol or ChCl:urea.<sup>98</sup> It was found that only NiCl<sub>2</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O exhibited significant, stable, thermochromic behavior over a wide temperature range. The color of 0.1 M NiCl<sub>2</sub>.  $6H_2O$  dissolved in DES changed from pale green (room temperature), to spring green (~70 °C), to blue (~120 °C). Incorporating the Ni containing DES into a microporous PVDF film produced a thermochromic PVDF composite film for application in high performance thermochromic materials. The same authors published some interesting work using DESs to fabricate nanostructured Ni metal films<sup>99</sup> using constant voltage, pulse voltage, and reverse pulse voltage. A variety of nanostructured Ni films were produced with micro/nanobinary surface architectures such as nanosheets, aligned nanostrips, and hierarchical flowers (see Figure 7). Electrochemical measure-



Figure 7. SEM images of different morphologies (nanosheets, aligned nanostrips, and hierarchical flowers) of Ni films deposited at 90  $^{\circ}$ C by pulse voltage mode (a–f) and reverse pulse voltage mode (g, h). Reproduced with permission from ref 99. Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society.

ments revealed that the superhydrophobic Ni films exhibited an obvious passivation phenomenon, which may provide enhanced corrosion resistance in aqueous solutions.

**3.1.5. Zinc Plating.** Zinc is fundamentally important to the metal finishing industry primarily because of its environmental compatibility, cost, and corrosion protection properties. The deposition of metals such as Zn that are both inexpensive and lightweight offers valuable technological advances for energy storage applications. While the aqueous plating systems are clearly advanced and produce very good coatings, the study of zinc deposition in DESs has important implications for the production of zinc alloys. It is important to note that Zn metal deposited from DESs tends to have a compact microcrystalline



**Figure 8.** Tapping mode, liquid AFM images recorded in a 0.3 M ZnCl<sub>2</sub> solution in ethaline of an Au coated resonating quartz crystal under electrochemical control (-1.1 V vs Ag wire). Images show Zn deposition at times: (a) t = 0 s (i.e., bare electrode), (b) t = 120 s, (c) t = 240 s, (d) t = 360 s, (e) t = 480 s, and (f) t = 600s. Reproduced with permission from ref 101. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society.

structure, in contrast to Zn deposited from aqueous electrolytes which tends to have a dendritic structure in the absence of strong base additives. Deposition of Zn from DESs has been developed recently by PolyZion<sup>100</sup> which is an integrated FP7 project that is developing a novel fast rechargeable zinc polymer battery with a DES electrolyte for use in electric and hybrid electric vehicles.

Abbott et al. observed that the inclusion of certain nitrogen based chelating agents in the electroplating solution markedly affects the morphology of the resulting deposit. In an attempt to gain some structural data regarding metal ion speciation in DES they have begun to use EXAFS as an in situ probe. Transmission EXAFS of a 0.05 M ZnCl<sub>2</sub> solution in either an 2 ethylene glycol:ChCl or 2 urea:ChCl liquid shows a single peak in the FFT spectrum corresponding to one dominant species, which after numerical fitting and comparison to solid state structural data is unambiguously  $[ZnCl_4]^{2-}$ . The transmission EXAFS spectrum shows no change upon the addition of 3 stoichiometric equivalents of chelating agent. This strongly suggests that changes in morphology of deposit after the addition of complexing agents are because of chemical processes that take place in the diffusion layer or at the cathode surface, rather than in the bulk.<sup>85</sup>

The double layer effects on zinc nucleation have been studied by Ryder et al.<sup>58</sup> Zn electrodeposition in a ChCl:EG and ChCl:urea DES are not mass transport limited. Though the morphology of the deposit obtained from the two liquids differs: zinc deposited from the urea based liquid had a "rice-grain" morphology, with homogeneously sized crystallites, consistent with a rapid nucleation mechanism; while the ethylene glycol based liquid gave very thin platelets formed with the planar face perpendicular to the electrode surface.

Changing the concentration of the solute affected the physical properties of the liquids to different extents, although it did not affect the morphology of the metal deposited. The speciation of zinc was shown to be the same in both liquids:  $[ZnCl_4]^{2-}$ . Double layer capacitance studies showed differences between the two liquids which were proposed to be due to the adsorption of chloride on the electrode. The differences in zinc morphology were attributed to the blocking of certain crystal faces leading to deposition of small platelet shaped crystals in the glycol based liquid.

The nucleation and deposition of zinc from a ChCl:ethylene glycol liquid have been studied using time-resolved in situ liquid atomic force microscopy (AFM) while simultaneously recording chronoamperommetric and acoustic impedance electrochemical quartz crystal microbalance measurements.<sup>101</sup> Modeling of the chronoamperommetric data recorded for the initial nucleation process of the same experiment suggests that nucleation initially occurs via a progressive mechanism (derived from the Scharifker and Hills equations). Crystallites of different sizes were clearly visible from the AFM images throughout the whole deposition period monitored, suggesting that sustained nucleation also occurs via a progressive mechanism (see Figure 8).

3.1.6. Other Metal Coatings. The fundamentals of silver electrodeposition have recently come under study. Gomez etal have considered the role of the chloride anion in the nucleation process of silver deposited from the 2 urea:choline chloride DES.<sup>102</sup> The voltammetric and chronoamperometric studies both suggest that the deposition of Ag is a 3D nucleation and growth process under diffusion control. The authors believe that the presence of chloride inhibits the growth of the deposit by hindering uncontrolled directional growth leading to deposits with rounded grains at short deposition times. The first ever digital holographic microscope (DHM) images of metal nucleation and growth have been published comparing Ag deposition from 1 choline chloride:2 ethylene glycol and 1 choline chloride:2 urea. The authors show that the growth of the silver is strongly dependent on the hydrogen bond donor of the DES.<sup>103</sup> The electrochemical reduction of three silver salts, AgCI, AgNO<sub>3</sub>, and Ag<sub>2</sub>O, in choline chloride:ethylene glycol and choline chloride:urea has revealed that silver is electrodeposited via 3D nucleation with mass transport controlled growth. More dense deposits were observed for the urea based liquid, and EXAFS studies revealed that the anion of the solvent only affected the electrochemical behavior when it was still associated with the metal; for the three salts investigated this only occurred with Ag<sub>2</sub>O.<sup>104</sup>

An investigation into the effect of HBD on the electrochemical and morphological properties of electrodeposited tin has revealed that the choice of HBD does not significantly change the electrochemistry with tin nucleation being found to progress via a 3D instantaneous process with growth controlled by diffusion.105 Electrodeposition of magnesium metal has been possible from a liquid containing dimethylformamide and magnesium chloride hexahydrate. Cyclic voltammetry indicated that the reduction of Mg<sup>2+</sup> was irreversible, and X-ray diffraction (XRD) revealed that the deposits consisted of Mg<sub>2</sub>Cu and MgO, i.e., the coating produced an alloy with the substrate, copper.<sup>106</sup> The electrochemical behavior of selenium oxide in choline chloride:urea has been characterized revealing the deposition of Se metal on a gold electrode.<sup>107</sup> The physical and electrochemical properties of choline chloride:ethylene glycol and choline chloride:urea containing palladium have been recorded, with deposition and stripping peaks for Pd observed in cyclic voltammetry investigations. Subsequent galvanostatic electrodeposition of Pd from these liquids produced deposits of nodular Pd particles as observed by SEM.<sup>108</sup> The surface morphology of palladium deposits from choline chloride:urea are affected by the addition of nicotinic acid amide and by the method of plating: direct or pulse current. The optimized Pd deposit was obtained either by the presence of the additive or by the use of pulse plating; if the two were operated in conjunction they changed the microstructure of the deposit.<sup>109</sup>

3.1.7. Alloy Coatings. While the deposition of zinc is technologically relatively simple, the deposition of zinc alloys is particularly difficult, due primarily to the differences in redox potentials of the alloying elements in aqueous electrolytes. In a DES the redox potentials of metals are shifted from the values expected for aqueous systems due to the formation of chlorometallate ions and the thermodynamic difference in their reduction compared to the hydrated metal ions. Depositions of Zn/Co and Zn/Fe alloys from aqueous solutions produce an anomalous alloy where the less noble Zn is preferentially deposited to the other metal. In DESs it is possible to deposit a variety of alloy compositions, allowing either metal to be predominant, depending on the relative concentrations of the metals and the applied deposition potential. Zn-Sn alloy coatings on mild steel substrates have been prepared using DESs based on choline chloride and ethylene glycol or urea.<sup>110</sup> It was shown than zinc and tin can be electrodeposited from these solvents both individually and as alloys; in addition this demonstrates the ability to change alloy morphology and composition by judicious choice of DES. A range of deposit compositions have been produced with over 80% Zn content possible.

Zn based alloy coatings from DESs could be used to replace or improve a variety of coatings including the following: elimination of hydrogen embrittlement in Zn–Ni alloys for aerospace applications, deposition of high Zn content coatings with Sn, deposition of higher Fe content Zn–Fe alloys than achievable by aqueous systems and replacement of strong acids and alkalis or toxic complexants that are currently used in aqueous electrolytes, and deposition of Zn–Co alloys with higher cobalt contents with a view to producing magnetic materials.<sup>111</sup>

Ni/Co/Sn alloys have been deposited as a possible active material for oxygen evolution in water electrolysis or as an anode material for lithium batteries.<sup>112</sup> Cu/In alloy films have been deposited onto a Mo surface to investigate their suitability in the production of photovoltaic devices. The films were deposited from the 1 choline chloride:2 urea DES and contained islands of pure indium at lower overpotentials but resulted in dendritic growth at higher overpotentials.<sup>113</sup> Other alloys to be deposited from these liquids are Sm/Co,<sup>89</sup> Zn/Cu,<sup>114</sup> Zn/Mn,<sup>115</sup> Ni/Zn,<sup>116</sup> Fe/Ni/Cr,<sup>117</sup> Cu/Ga,<sup>118</sup> and Co/Sm.<sup>119</sup> Sm/Co alloy has

the potential to be a hard magnetic material, depending on the metal ratio. When cobalt and samarium are both present in ChCl:2 urea, codeposition occurs with different morphology and composition depending on the applied potential. Nodular cobaltrich deposits were obtained at low deposition potentials, and fine grained samarium-rich deposits were obtained at more negative deposition potentials. Valles et al. have also gone on to investigate the electrodeposition of CoSm magnetic films and nanowires. Zinc-manganese alloys are attractive corrosion resistant coatings for ferrous substrates. Their deposition is problematic from aqueous electrolytes due to the reactive nature of manganese and its low reduction potentials. Manganese chloride and zinc chloride were dissolved by Wilcox et al. in ChCl:2 urea; without any additives, the deposits were powdery, adding the correct amount of boric acid increased the amount of manganese in the deposit and reduced the powdery nature of the deposit. The electrochemical deposition of Ga and Cu-Ga alloys from ChCl:2 urea was investigated by Steichen et al. to prepare CuGaSe<sub>2</sub> semiconductors for use in thin film solar cells as a possible way to lower the cost of production for photovoltaic devices.<sup>120</sup> The authors report the successful conversion of Cu-Ga precursor films into p-type CuGaSe<sub>2</sub> absorber layers, without the loss of gallium during annealing.

**3.1.8. Composite Coatings.** The incorporation of particulate material into metal coatings has become an area of technological interest to form a corrosion barrier, to reduce surface friction, to greatly increase the hardness of a metal, or to produce abrasion coatings. Abbott et al. have shown that suspensions of silicon carbide, alumina, or diamond in various ChCl based DESs are stable for long periods of time without gravimetric settling.<sup>59</sup> These suspensions are stabilized by the relatively high viscosities of the liquids. The electrolytic deposition of metal from these liquids in the presence of particulate of suspension results in the physical incorporation of the particles into the metal coatings.

Silver is widely used as a coating for electronic connectors; however, it is extremely soft, and wear can be a significant issue. Frisch et al. have described improved wear resistant silver coatings obtained from solution of AgCl in ChCl:EG.<sup>60</sup> Up to a 10-fold decrease in the wear volume was observed with the incorporation of SiC or  $Al_2O_3$  particles. The size but not the nature of the composite particle changed the morphology and grain size of the silver deposit, and the addition of LiF was found to significantly affect the deposit morphology and improve wear resistance.

**3.1.9. Immersion and Electroless Coatings.** Catalytically activated electroless deposition uses a reducing agent in solution, whereas immersion deposition relies on the galvanic potential difference between the ions in solution and the substrate. Immersion or electroless silver coatings are widely used by the printed circuit board (PCB) manufacturing sector as a means of protecting the surfaces of copper conductors from aerobic oxidation. Silver is also oxidized by air; however, in contrast to copper oxide, the silver oxide still dissolves in the molten solder that is used to join electronic components to the conductors of the PCB. The current commercial process, aqueous acid based, uses a solution phase reducing agent (typically formaldehyde) as well as a heterogeneous catalyst such as colloidal Pd metal. The major drawback to the acid-based process is that there is a competitive reaction between silver deposition and copper etching. For high density PCB applications this results in the selective dissolution of small copper features and ultimately costly failures of the boards. An alternative DES Ag immersion

plating process has been developed on the basis of the displacement and deposition of Cu and Ag, respectively.<sup>121,122</sup> Although copper is still being removed from the board, the etching rate is uniform and easy to control. Unlike the analogous coating from aqueous solution, the Ag deposition from a DES is sustainable without the use of a colloidal catalyst. This is a consequence of the porous morphology of the coating.<sup>123</sup> Test samples on PCB tokens have been produced using the DES based process (see Figure 9); these have performed well in solder tests and accelerated aging tests.<sup>124</sup> The process offers both functional and environmental benefits.



**Figure 9.** Printed circuit board (PCB) whose copper tracks have been coated with silver using the DES immersion process.

A new process has been developed for the immersion deposition of copper adhesion layers onto aluminum substrates.<sup>125</sup> The process is designed to facilitate electrolytic coatings of other metals on Al components. The process is obtained by simple immersion of the substrate in a DES containing Cu metal ions, and a thin, even, adherent, homogeneous film can be deposited in a few minutes. Electrolytic plating on top of the Cu layer is easily achieved using any conventional electroplating process: either aqueous or DES.

The ASPIS project is investigating the potential for using DESs as part of the electroless nickel and immersion gold (ENIG) deposition processes for PCBs.<sup>126,127,126</sup> ENIG finishes for PCBs are widespread as they give excellent solderability that is retained after prolonged storage prior to assembly. However, there are a number of technical and reliability issues that can cause problems for PCB fabricators and their customers. The most common problem is "black pad", caused by excessive corrosion of the Ni during the immersion Au process; the mechanisms that cause "black pad" are still poorly understood. One explanation is the galvanic corrosion of the nickel via protons in the acidic gold plating bath; the use of DESs could enable a neutral plating bath, minimizing the likelihood for corrosion to take place and reducing the possibility of "black pad" formation. The immersion Au process using DESs under development by ASPIS circumvents these issues.

**3.2.10. Synthesis of Metal Nanoparticles.** An interesting and emerging application of DESs is as a solvent for the shape-controlled synthesis of metal nanoparticles which could have a

large impact on the science of electrocatalysts. Gold nanoparticles were synthesized to produce Au based catalysts<sup>128</sup> without the use of any surfactants or seeds, but with a DES as the solvent. Star-shaped nanoparticles were successfully synthesized, directly from the reduction of HAuCl<sub>4</sub> by L-ascorbic acid at room temperature in the DES. Nanoparticles of various shapes and surface structure including snowflake-like and nanothorns were obtained by adjusting the water content of the DES. The electrocatalytic properties of the synthesized gold nanoparticles were tested using the electroreduction of  $H_2O_2$  as a probe reaction; it was demonstrated that the star-shaped nanoparticles exhibited a much higher catalytic activity than other shaped nanoparticles and polycrystalline Au. Recently, the electrochemically shape-controlled synthesis of Pt nanocrystals with high surface energy has been demonstrated in a 1 ChCl:2 urea DES. The growth of concave tetrahexahedral nanocrystals was easily controllable without the need for seeds, surfactants, or other chemicals.129

Pd nanoparticles assembled in a 2D superstructure have been electrodeposited from choline chloride:2 urea, and an anionic layer induced by adsorbed species has been observed with ultrasmall-angle X-ray scattering (USAXS).<sup>130</sup> Pt triambic icosahedral nanocrystals have been electrochemically synthesized from a choline chloride:urea DES, and when compared to a commercial Pt catalyst, they were found to have a higher electrocatalytic activity and stability toward ethanol electrooxidation.<sup>131</sup> A more environmentally friendly route to prepare CuCl nanocrystal powders for use as catalysts in organic synthesis has been reported using a DES.<sup>132,133</sup> Spherical, magnetic nanoparticles of Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> have been prepared in choline chloride:urea and exhibited a better adsorption capacity for Cu<sup>2+</sup> than for particles prepared in deionized water.<sup>134</sup>

# 3.2. Metal Electropolishing

Electropolishing has been a subject of study since the process was first patented in 1930.<sup>135</sup> The principle of metal polishing is the controlled dissolution of a metal surface in order to reduce surface roughness and hence increase optical reflectivity. Electropolishing pieces increases corrosion resistance, decreases wear, and increases lubricity in engines, overcoming a major cause of failure. The majority of current commercial processes are based on aqueous phosphoric and sulfuric acid mixtures along with associated additives, such as CrO<sub>3</sub>. While the current commercial electropolishing processes are very successful, there are some major drawbacks: the solutions used are highly corrosive and toxic, and on a performance matter there is extensive gas evolution during the process that is associated with low current efficiency. Electropolishing with deep eutectic solvents has three main advantages over the commercial aqueous process: (i) Gas evolution at the anode/solution interface is negligible. (ii) Hence, high current efficiencies are obtained. (iii) Compared to the aqueous acid based solutions, the deep eutectic is benign and noncorrosive. Electropolishing has traditionally been successful for stainless steels, but in addition, the electropolishing of aluminum, titanium, Ni/Co alloys, and super alloys has been possible in DESs.

Stainless steel 316 can be electropolished using a DES based on choline chloride and ethylene glycol, which has freezing point of 10  $^{\circ}$ C (see Figure 10). The electrochemical response is significantly different from that observed in aqueous acid solutions; in the acidic solution the characteristic passivation response is observed at 1.3 V followed by what is believed to be a polishing region between 1.5 and 1.6 V. In the DES no



Figure 10. Stainless steel 316 polished (left) and unpolished (right).

passivation is observed; it is probable that the dissolution process is simply activation controlled. It was found that the formation of a passive oxide film at positive overpotentials was negated, allowing the efficient electrodissolution of the stainless steel.<sup>136</sup> Alcohols such as glycerol have historically been used in aqueous electropolishing solutions as viscosity enhancers, but in general these solutions are thought to operate via a passivation of the metal surface. The ChCl:EG DES contains no chemical oxidizing agent and therefore should allow pure electrochemical control over the metal dissolution process without surface passivation. A highly polished surface can be obtained, without the use of any additives, with current densities between 71 and 53 mA cm<sup>-2</sup> with an applied voltage of 8 V, at 40 °C.<sup>14</sup> No gas evolution is observed suggesting that there are negligible side reactions occurring within the liquid. It was found that the DES with no additive had a current efficiency of 92%. This compares very favorably with aqueous based electrolytes where current efficiencies are  $\sim 30\%$ . Abbott et al. have published articles discussing the role of the surface oxide passivation layer on the polishing process and utilized atomic force microscopy (AFM) to gain insight into the nature and scale of morphological changes at the steel surface during the polishing process.<sup>13'</sup>

Electropolishing in deep eutectic solvents has mainly focused on stainless steel, but the electropolishing of aluminum, titanium, Ni/Co alloys, and super alloys has also been investigated. Ryder et al. have developed a new methodology for the removal of surface oxide scale from single crystal aerospace castings of nickel based superalloys (used in turbine blades) using anodic electrolytic etching with an ethylene glycol:choline chloride DES (see Figure 11).<sup>138</sup> This method enables the removal of scale from cast components, allowing the identification of defective parts before the expensive and time-consuming heat treatment process.

# 3.3. Metal Extraction and the Processing of Metal Oxides

The dissolution of metals and metal oxides is key to a range of important processes such as metal winning, corrosion remediation, and catalyst preparation and has recently been the subject of a review by Frisch et al.<sup>139</sup> The processing and reprocessing of metals is the source of a large volume of aqueous waste, with the treatment of acidic and basic byproducts being both energy and chemical intensive. RECONIF<sup>140</sup> is a project investigating DESs in the selective recovery of nickel from



**Figure 11.** Blade aerofoil partially electropolished (lower section) and subsequently heat-treated. Surface melting is evident in the upper part of the aerofoil under the region of scale in the unelectropolished area. No evidence of scale or incipient melting in electropolished region. Reprinted with permission from ref 138. Copyright 2012 Maney.

different waste streams including filter cakes and battery waste. Most aqueous processes are based on either high temperature or hydrometallurgical methods, but are complex due to the diverse sources of starting materials such as metals, oxides, sulfides, carbonates, phosphates, silicates, and complex slags, sludges, and alloys. Metal oxides are insoluble in most molecular solvents and are generally only soluble in aqueous acid or alkali; the method used for extraction is dependent on the original matrix, the required purity, and the value of the end product. Following modern standards for environmental protection, all solutes must be removed before a solvent (normally water) is discharged to the environment; there are four main methods used to recover metals from solution: precipitation, ion exchange, electrodeposition, and cementation. Electrodeposition or electrowinning is the most commonly used technology for metals such as gold, silver, and copper. However, there are three major drawbacks to this process: the pH must be accurately maintained to control the deposition process; complexing agents such as ammonia or cyanide are used to control the solubility and deposition properties; and hydrogen gas and oxygen evolvement can lead to embrittlement of the metal deposit, diminishing its quality and leading to low current efficiencies. Precipitation is another option, but usually results in deposits that are not the pure metal but salts such as hydroxides, sulfides, or carbonates. To recover aluminum and chromium they have to be chemically or electrochemically reduced in high temperature processes with high energy demands.

An increasing number of groups are now using ILs and DESs for solvatometallurgical processing; the advances made with DESs only are discussed here. Extensive studies have been performed on the solubility of metal oxides in a variety of deep eutectic solvents. Type III DESs have been shown to dissolve a range of metal oxides;<sup>141</sup> ligands such as urea, thiourea, and oxalate are well-known complexants for a variety of metals and can be made part of the DES. Metals can be separated from a complex mixture using electrochemistry;<sup>142</sup> however, on the

downside, these liquids are all totally miscible with water and cannot be used for biphasic extraction. The solubility of 17 metal oxides in the elemental mass series Ti through to Zn has been reported in three DESs based on choline chloride,<sup>143</sup> with judicious choice of the hydrogen bond donor leading to selectivity for extracting certain metals from complex matrices.<sup>13</sup>

In aqueous solutions, redox potentials can be selectively shifted by judicious choice of an appropriate ligand, while in principle the same could be achieved using the same ligands in DESs: the relative strengths of possible metal-anion complexes are largely unknown and remain an important parameter to quantify. Abbott et al. have recently developed the first comparable electrochemical series in two deep eutectic solvents.<sup>139</sup> The authors have shown that metals can be electrowon into their composite materials by using the difference in redox potentials of the metals in a model experiment using copper/zinc mixtures. Copper has a higher redox potential, and so it needs to be deposited first, the cathode can then be changed, the voltage increased, and zinc deposited. The authors also demonstrate the use of iodine as a stable, reversible electrocatalyst for the dissolution of a range of metals. The redox potential of  $I_2/I^-$  in a choline chloride:ethylene glycol DES was found to be more positive than that of most common metals and was shown to be able to oxidize and recover gold.

A hybrid DES of choline chloride, ethylene glycol, and urea has been utilized in the large scale extraction of lead and zinc from electric arc furnace (EAF) dust.<sup>144</sup> The DES showed selectivity in EAF dust toward just zinc and lead oxides, while iron and aluminum oxides were insoluble. The electrochemical series in DESs shows that Pb would be electrowon first over Zn; as Pb was not economically worth extracting it was cemented using Zn dust. Tests showed that Zn could be subsequently electrodeposited with a current efficiency of 75%. However, this is not economically efficient for such a relatively inexpensive metal; therefore, the most economically viable solution was to precipitate ZnCl using ammonia, filter off the precipitate, and boil away the ammonia, leaving behind the DES to be used again. A pilot plant was constructed to test the efficacy of using DESs for large scale metal extraction. Choline chloride:urea and choline chloride:malonic acid have been shown to be effective in the removal of copper oxides and fluorides from post etch residues,<sup>145</sup> and the malonic acid based liquid has also been successful in the removal of residues from the  $CF_4/O_2$  etching of a copper coated DUV photoresist.<sup>146</sup> DESs have also shown promise in removing organic sulfides from fuels.<sup>147</sup>

# 4. SYNTHESIS APPLICATIONS

Legislative control is encouraging the adoption of greener methodologies in chemical synthesis, and ILs have been heralded as a replacement for some more volatile organic solvents. However, the "green" credentials of ILs and DESs are still very much debated due to a shortage of toxicological studies. DESs have recently been proposed as environmentally benign alternative solvents for synthesis and have been considered in reviews on the subject;<sup>148,149</sup> however, the possibility of using DESs as solvents for synthesis has not received as much focused research attention as utilizing DESs as alternative solvents for metal finishing applications. In order for this area of research to flourish, more substantial research needs to be carried out into the long-term environmental applications of using DESs to perform these synthetic procedures.

Abbott et al. initially developed DESs based on choline chloride and zinc chloride as inexpensive readily available alternatives to ILs in synthesis. These ChCl-ZnCl<sub>2</sub> Lewis acidic solvents have been successfully employed for a variety of synthetic reactions including Diels–Alder cycloaddition, Fischer indole annulation, and polymerizations.<sup>150,151</sup> Since these proofof-principle experiments, other research groups have gone on to investigate the suitability of DESs in synthesis reactions, and work in this area is increasing. Shankarling et al. have utilized DESs for the selective N-alkylation of aromatic primary amines, avoiding the complexity of producing multiple alkylations which can occur with polar organic solvents and high reaction temperatures. The authors have compared two new "green" methods for the process: biocatalysis using the enzyme lipase and DESs as a catalyst and recyclable solvent, thus conducting the synthesis under mild conditions and without the use of a strong base or highly polar organic solvent. The model test reaction selected was the reaction of aniline and hexyl bromide. The lipase catalyst in an ethanolic medium gave the best results of the organic media screened giving the desired product. The DES ChCl:urea gave products in the same reaction time with good, only slightly lower, yields (see Table 4). The DES was able to be

Table 4. Influence of Organic Solvents and Biodegradable/DES Media for Mono-N-alkylation of Aniline with HexylBromide in the Presence of Lipase Biocatalyst

	reaction time (h)	yield (%)	
Organic Solvent Used in Conjunction with Lipase			
ethanol	4	85	
chloroform	5	81	
dichloromethane	6-8	75	
hexane	12	50	
DES or Biodegradable Me	dia		
glycerol	10	55	
ChCl:glycerol	8	65	
ChCl:urea	4	78	

recycled and reused at least five times.<sup>152</sup> Choline chloride:2 zinc chloride has been used as the solvent for the preparation of primary amides from aldehydes or nitriles.<sup>153</sup>

Shankarling et al. have also utilized a choline chloride:urea DES as catalyst and reaction medium for the bromination of 1aminoanthra-9,10-quinone, eliminating the requirement for volatile organic solvents and concentrated acids as solvents or catalysts. The DES reduced the reaction time from 10 to 12 h for chloroform and methanol to 2-3 h with a high purity yield of 95% compared to 70–75%.<sup>154</sup> The DES was easily separated and reused without loss of activity. The same group has also reported the synthesis of cinnamic acid and its derivatives via a Perkin reaction in the same DES, choline chloride:urea.<sup>155</sup> Conventionally, cinnamic acid and its derivatives are prepared using benzaldehyde, acetic anhydride in the presence of a base at 180 °C; the drawbacks have been the use of strong bases, organic solvent, high reaction temperatures, long reaction times, and low yields. The reaction proceeded efficiently under mild conditions (a reaction temperature of 30 °C compared to 140 °C for the conventional method) without the need for an additional catalyst, with better yields compared to the traditional method ( $\sim$ 30% increase in yield was observed for the same product synthesized with the DES method compared to the conventional method); again, the DES was able to be recovered and reused.

del Monte and Luna-Bárcenas et al. have demonstrated that a ChCl:acrylic acid or ChCl:methacrylic acid DES has superior performance than organic solvents and ionic liquids for frontal polymerizations.<sup>156</sup> Tailoring the viscosity of the DES allowed the front temperature and velocity to be controlled, enhancing polymer conversion (up to ca. 75% and 85% in the acrylic acid and methacrylic acid, respectively). del Monte and Gutiérrez et al. proved that a ChCl:ethylene glycol DES was a suitable solvent for the polycondensation of resorcinol–formaldehyde gels to prepare carbons and carbon–carbon nanotube composites with conversion rates and carbon content in the range of and even slightly above those obtained in aqueous solutions.<sup>157</sup>

Glycerol based DESs have been used as an easily prepared, biodegradable, and inexpensive alternative to conventional aprotic cation—anion paired ILs for the study of protease activation by Zhao et al.<sup>158</sup> Han et al. have reported the efficient conversion of fructose to 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) to produce liquid fuels.<sup>159</sup> The conversion of fructose to 5hydroxymethylfurfural is a key step for using carbohydrates to produce liquid fuels and value-added chemicals. The authors tested a range of conventional ILs and DESs based on ChCl and compared their conversion selectivity and yield, with the best choline chloride based liquid displaying a conversion, selectivity, and yield all above 90%. DESs based on choline chloride and citric acid were found give the best all round results.

DESs have also been used in the development of a new synthetic route for polyoxometalate (POM) based hybrids.<sup>160,161</sup> POMs have been synthesized by two methods, but both have drawbacks: in the traditional method the temperature of the reaction system cannot usually exceed 100 °C because of the boiling points of the solvents; the second method is hydrothermal or solvothermal synthesis which utilizes high temperature, high pressure environments to overcome solubility limitations in organic solvents. This method has been limited by low yields, insolubility of the final product, difficulty in repetition and control, and the potential explosion of organic solvent and organic reactants under the experimental conditions. A choline chloride:urea eutectic avoids the disadvantages of both these methods, removing the potential for explosion, and improving both solubility and yield. The selective preparation of  $\alpha$ -mono or  $\alpha, \alpha$ -dichloro ketones and  $\beta$ -ketoesters<sup>162</sup> can be performed at room temperature with a 86-95% yield in a choline chloride:p-TsOH DES in comparison to the traditional method using silica gel as the catalyst and methanol as the solvent under reflux with a 86–98% yield. A one-pot  $\alpha$ -nucleophilic fluorination of acetophenones in a DES has been developed by Zou et al.<sup>163</sup>  $\alpha$ -Fluoroacetophones can be prepared from acetophenones through electrophilic or nucleophilic fluorination. A DES of ChCl and p-TsOH was formed, and three different methods using nucleophilic fluorination were used to try to produce  $\alpha$ -fluoroacetophenones. The first and second method used KF or TBAF·3H<sub>2</sub>O as the fluorinating reagent, improving the yields of  $\alpha$ -fluoroacetophenones as compared to those prepared from  $\alpha$ -bromoacetphenones. The last method took advantage of the high chloride environment in the DES to synthesize  $\alpha$ -fluoroacetophenones directly from acetophenones in pot, giving yields higher than some seen in electrophilic fluorination using N-F reagents.

The scope of the uses of DESs in synthesis is now widening. DESs have been used to catalyze a one-pot synthesis of nitriles from aldehydes,<sup>164</sup> 2*H*-indazolo[2,1-*b*]phthalazine-triones,<sup>165</sup> the synthesis of phenols,<sup>166</sup> and pyran and benzopyran derivatives.<sup>167</sup> DESs have been utilized in the Paal–Knorr reactions<sup>168</sup> and the synthesis of amino acid dithiocarbamates,<sup>169</sup> aurones,<sup>170</sup> xanthanes and tetraketones,<sup>171</sup> dithiocarbamate derivatives,<sup>172</sup> peptides,<sup>173</sup> 1,4-dihydropyridine derivatives,<sup>174</sup>

Interestingly, it has been suggested that DESs can be used as media for DNA and RNA based technologies, contradicting the argument that water is necessary for nucleic acid second structure to be observed. Hud et al. report that nucleic acids can form four secondary structures that reversibly denature with heating in a water-free urea based DES.<sup>178</sup> In some cases the nucleic acid sequences studied exhibited different relevant stabilities and different secondary structures compared to those observed in aqueous media. Owing to their anhydrous character and capacity to support natively folded DNA and protein structures, DESs are appealing media for the nonenzymatic synthesis of biopolymers. It has been shown that DNA is soluble in choline chloride in combination with the HBDs levulinic acid, glycerol, ethylene glycol, sorbitol, and resorcinol.<sup>179</sup>

# 4.1. Ionothermal Synthesis

The use of organic templates (structure-directing agents, SDAs) is one of the most successful methods of preparing new inorganic materials<sup>180–182</sup> such as zeolites, transition metal phosphates or oxides.<sup>183</sup> Crystalline porous solids are of interest in a number of areas of modern science, particularly those associated with catalysis and gas adsorption.<sup>184</sup> Traditionally, these materials have been produced by hydrothermal synthesis, where a templating agent is added to a molecular solvent; SDAs become enclosed in the crystallizing inorganic–organic hybrid material and define the molecular-size pore systems which become accessible after combustion of the SDA.<sup>185</sup> However, in 2004, Cooper et al. developed a novel method of preparing porous solids based on the use of deep eutectic solvents as both solvent and structure-directing agent (template),<sup>186</sup> see Figure 12. This



**Figure 12.** Schematic comparison between (a) hydrothermal synthesis where interactions between the excess solvent (water) and the template or framework dominate and (b) ionothermal synthesis where the template–framework interactions dominate.

new method, termed "ionothermal synthesis", has some interesting features and potential advantages over the traditional methods of molecular sieve synthesis. Ionothermal synthesis uses ionic liquids as both the solvent and potential template (or structure-directing agent) simultaneously in the formation of solids. It directly parallels hydrothermal synthesis where the solvent is water. DESs unstable at high temperatures can be used as the media for ionothermal reactions. The organic template is not added to the mixture in the traditional manner, but delivered in a controlled approach by the breakdown of one of the components of the DES itself. Advanced ionothermal synthesis allows the tuning of solvent properties of the DES to match the system requirements. Deep eutectic solvents have structures with a high degree of local order, relatively long-range spatial correlations and a three-dimensional distribution that reflects the asymmetry of the deep eutectic cations. The long-range asymmetric distribution comes from the long-range Coulombic interactions and could have major implications for structure direction in the synthetic process.<sup>187</sup>

Ionothermal synthesis has many benefits over hydrothermal synthesis: most DESs have vanishingly small vapor pressures, which means autogenous pressure is produced on heating; in contrast, ionothermal synthesis can take place at ambient pressure, eliminating safety concerns with high solvent pressures. Potentially millions of eutectic mixtures are available compared to only ~600 molecular solvents used for hydrothermal synthesis, offering many more opportunities for the synthesis of new porous frameworks.<sup>186</sup> Finally, the use of DESs as solvent reduces the tendency for water to be accommodated in the resultant structure, even when there is a small amount of water present in the reaction mixture.<sup>188</sup>

The Morris group at the University of St Andrews, U.K., is currently the main group of researchers working on ionothermal synthesis reactions, and in 2007 Parnham and Morris published a review of the early work carried out on the subject.<sup>189</sup> Recent publications using ionothermal synthesis have reported the formation of aluminum phosphate,<sup>190,191</sup> cobalt aluminophosphate,<sup>192–195</sup> zirconium phosphates,<sup>196–198</sup> propylene diammonium gallium phosphate,<sup>204</sup> and organic–inorganic hybrid materials.<sup>205–209</sup> Also reported are a novel cobalt phosphate– borate compound<sup>210</sup> for use as nonlinear optic materials, lanthanide<sup>211,212</sup> or nickel<sup>213</sup> metal organic frameworks for the ultrafast formation of ZnO mesocrystals,<sup>214</sup> reduced graphene oxide,<sup>215</sup> and hierarchical porous carbon monoliths.<sup>216</sup>

# 4.2. Gas Adsorption

The adsorption and sequestering of  $CO_2$  is a current hot topic aimed at reducing global warming. Great efforts are focused on developing energy sources that are not CO<sub>2</sub> emitting; however, these are not at the stage where they can be implemented on a large scale. The design of a sustainable synthetic process for the preparation of recyclable solid sorbents that exhibit an enhanced sorbant capability is vital. The use of DESs to prepare these materials appears promising in terms of efficiency and sustainability.<sup>217,218</sup> Two groups in China and Spain have used ionothermal synthesis to produce porous frameworks suitable for  $CO_2$  capture. Bu et al. have reported the synthesis of a series of metal-organic frameworks, some with promising gas storage capabilities.<sup>207,219,220</sup> Gutierrez et al. have used a resorcinol:3hydroxypyridine:choline chloride containing DES as the liquid medium, structure-directing agent, and the source of carbon and nitrogen to produce nitrogen doped hierarchical carbons.<sup>216,221</sup>

Han et al. have reported the high catalytic efficiency of a ChCl: urea DES supported on molecular sieves for the chemical fixation of carbon dioxide to cyclic carbonates.<sup>222</sup> It was demonstrated that this new biodegradable and green catalyst was very active and selective and had the potential for synthesizing cyclic carbonates from CO<sub>2</sub> and epoxides. After the reaction the solid catalyst and products could be easily separated because the DES was insoluble in the products, and the catalyst was reusable. Porous carbon nanosheets synthesized in DESs with controllable thicknesses that can separate CO<sub>2</sub> from N<sub>2</sub> have been reported.<sup>223</sup> DESs could also be utilized themselves as solvents

to capture  $CO_2$ .<sup>224–227</sup> Choline chloride:lactic acid has been investigated as a solvent to capture  $CO_2$ , and the mixture was found to be easily tunable; however, the solubility of  $CO_2$  was lower than other DESs studied in the literature.<sup>228</sup> SO<sub>2</sub> is one of the main air contaminants emitted from burning fossil fuels; it has been found that ChCl:glycerol rapidly adsorbs SO<sub>2</sub>, with an easy and fast release.<sup>229</sup>

# 4.3. Biotransformations

An emerging research area for DESs is their use in biotransformations. A biotransformation is a chemical modification made by an organism or enzyme on a chemical compound, and is vital to our survival as it allows the body to transform absorbed nutrients (food, oxygen, etc.) into substances that we require to function. The body also uses biotransformation or metabolism to turn an absorbed drug into the active agent or to convert toxins in the body into less harmful substances that can be excreted. Traditionally, biotransformations have been performed in aqueous solvents; however, biocatalysis has also been attempted in polar organic solvents such as acetone, methanol, or DMSO, although the polar organic solvents regularly denature enzymes. Replacing polar organic solvents with DESs allows substrates to dissolve without deactivating enzymes. DESs can be used in three different ways: as a cosolvent with water to help nonpolar substrates dissolve in aqueous solution, as a second phase in a water-DES mixture, or as a nonvolatile replacement for nonaqueous solvent. Deep eutectics propose to be a technically and economically viable alternative to organic solvents.<sup>230,231</sup>

The first proof-of-concept concerning the use of DESs in biotransformations only appeared in 2008.<sup>232</sup> The reactions studied so far have involved lipase-catalyzed processes such as transesterification,<sup>232,233</sup> aminolysis, epoxide hydrolysis,<sup>234</sup> N-alkylation of aromatic primary amines,<sup>235</sup> and Knoevenagel condensation reactions.<sup>236</sup> These have generally exhibited rates and enantioselectivities comparable to or higher than those reported for conventional organic solvents. It has been recently discussed in the literature whether naturally forming DESs can provide the missing link in understanding cellular metabolism and physiology.<sup>237</sup>

Biotransformations using microorganisms are limited in any nonaqueous solvent, and adding water unfortunately modifies DESs, breaking the electrostatic interactions among the components. To overcome this, freeze-dried whole cells have been incorporated in a DES, preserving the bacteria integrity and viability. In 2008, Gutierrez and del Monte initially published the preparation of a DES in its pure state through the freeze-drying of aqueous solutions of the individual DES counterparts and went on to explore the suitability of freeze-drying to incorporate organic self-assemblies in the DES with the full preservation of their self-assembled structure.<sup>238</sup> The strategy reported in this work was the freeze-drying of aqueous solutions containing the individual counterparts of the DES and the preformed liposomes (see Figure 13). In 2010 they published the proof of principle of the suspension of a bacterium (a strain of *E. coli*) in a glycerol choline chloride DES.<sup>239</sup>

# 4.4. Transformations of Unprotected Sugars, Cellulose, and Starch

Transformations of certain organic compounds such as unprotected sugars and cellulose can also be carried out advantageously in these liquids. The selective O-acetylation of sugar and cellulose<sup>240</sup> has been reported, as well as the cationic functionalization of cellulose.<sup>241</sup> The O-acetylation of carbohy-



**Figure 13.** Cryoetch SEM micrographs of liposomes (ca. 200 nm diameter) suspended in urea:choline chloride (left, bar is 20  $\mu$ m) and thiourea:choline chloride (right, bar is 2  $\mu$ m). Reprinted with permission from ref 238. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society.

drates is used for the protection of hydroxyl groups and for the purification and structural elucidation of natural products. DESs based on ZnCl<sub>2</sub> and ChCl are effective at carrying out Oacetylation reactions on a number of monosaccharides and cellulose. Per-O-acetylation was exclusively observed with monosaccharides and for low molecular weight polymer. Partial acetylation of cellulose was shown to be possible with some control over the degree of modification. The efficient cationic functionalization of cellulose was demonstrated in choline chloride:urea DES which acts as both solvent and reagent. It was shown that all the available hydroxyl groups on the cellulose had been modified. Jerome et al. have reported the rapid decrystallization of cellulose in DESs.<sup>242</sup> The authors discuss the effect of additives and the recycling of the DES. Starch is a biopolymer used in industry as a coating in paper, textiles, and carpets and in binders, adhesives, absorbants, and encapsulators. It is often modified to improve its end-use properties; however, the only solvent it is soluble in is dimethyl sulfoxide, and then only sparingly. Starch has been found to be soluble in choline chloride:oxalic acid and choline chloride:ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, and as a result, these DESs could be used as a solvent for the chemical modification of starch.<sup>243</sup>

DESs have also been investigated for their suitability as plasticizers for starch<sup>244,245</sup> and cellulose acetate.<sup>246</sup> DESs based on choline chloride are good candidates for starch modification because they interact strongly with the OH groups of the glycosidic units, decreasing chain interactions and hence plasticizing the polymer. They can also wet the surface of individual grains and bind them together. The DES found to have the best plasticizing properties was ChCl:urea. ChCl:urea has been used to suppress the crystallinity of corn starch and cellulose acetate in a polymer electrolyte containing lithium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imide, LiTFSI. The highest ionic conductivity for corn starch was obtained from a sample containing 80 wt % of DES, with a calculated conductivity value of  $1.04 \times 10^{-3}$  S cm<sup>-1</sup> in comparison with a sample containing 60 wt % DES for cellulose acetate, giving an ionic conductivity of 2.61  $\times 10^{-3}$  S cm<sup>-1</sup>.

# 4.5. Purifying and Manufacturing Biodiesel

There are many benefits of producing biodiesel as an alternative fuel: its synthesis from a natural product means that it is a carbonneutral fuel; it produces significantly fewer particulates than conventional diesel fuel with no sulfurous emissions; and it can be used pure or blended with mineral diesel in most modern compression engines. The manufacturing process for biodiesel is similar whatever natural product oil feedstock is used: triglyceride oil extracted from the plant is transesterified into alkyl esters using a catalyst to yield 3 mol of ester and 1 mol of glycerol per mol of triglyceride used. The glycerol is an unwanted byproduct and must be removed before the biodiesel can be used as a fuel as the viscosity of the glycerol present impedes the high pressure injection system of a modern diesel engine. The major stumbling block to the widespread use of biodiesel is that it is cheaper to drill and refine mineral diesel oil than to grow, extract, transesterify, and purify biodiesel using the conventional methods of adsorption over silica membrane reactors or the addition of lime and phosphoric acid. In order to solve this, several research groups have been working on new methods for extracting glycerol from biodiesel using DESs. The use of DESs in the synthesis of biodiesel have also recently become a subject of a review.<sup>247</sup>

In 2007, Abbott et al. successfully extracted excess glycerol from biodiesel in the presence of KOH using a Lewis basic mixture with a ratio of salt:2 glycerol using a DES (choline chloride:glycerol, 1:1).<sup>248</sup> A 25% portion of the choline chloride was subsequently recovered from the mixture by adding 1butanol as a liquid cosolvent. A collaboration between the University of Malaya, Malaysia; the King Saud University, Saudi Arabia; and Sultan Qaboos University, Oman has investigated the findings of Abbott et al. confirming that the optimum molar ratio for the choline chloride:glycerol DES is 1:1 and that the most glycerol was extracted using a 1:1 mixture of biodiesel:DES.<sup>249</sup> The group also found that two different DESs consisting of choline chloride and the hydrogen bond donor ethylene glycol or 2,2,2-trifluoracetamide<sup>250,251</sup> were also successful in extracting glycerol from biodiesel. Recently, they have reported that choline chloride based DESs with ethylene glycol and triethylene as the hydrogen bond donor were successful in removing all free glycerol from palm-oil-based biodiesel,<sup>252</sup> although to date no further advances have been reported by this collaboration on recovering the glycerol from the DES. Choline chloride:ethylene glycol and choline chloride:2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide have also been proven to successfully remove glycerol from palm-oil-based biodiesel.<sup>253</sup>

The successful recovery of glycerol from biodiesel would, however, pose a new conundrum: Can the recovered glycerol be put to use? Glycerol has some uses as viscosity modifiers and freezing point suppressants; however, with an annual production in excess of 1 million tonnes the market is saturated. Glycerol is poorly combustible so it cannot be used as a fuel and is regarded by many as a waste product. One solution to this problem has been reported by Abbott et al., who have developed a sustainable way of preparing nontoxic tunable DESs with glycerol as the hydrogen bond donor.<sup>254</sup> Eutectic mixtures of glycerol with choline chloride were shown to circumvent some of the difficulties associated with using glycerol as a solvent, such as high viscosity and high melting point. The application of these liquids to the esterification of glycerol was used to demonstrate the ability to tune a reaction with the quaternary ammonium acting as a quasiprotecting group. A feature article published by a group from the Universidad de Oviedi, Spain, reviewed attempts to increase the worth of glycerol extracted from biodiesel as an environmentally friendly reaction medium for synthetic organic chemistry.255

In an alternative approach, choline chloride and choline acetate based deep eutectics have been investigated as suitable solvents for lipase activation and enzymatic preparation of biodiesel.<sup>256</sup> A 1 choline acetate:1.5 glycerol liquid was found to have low viscosity and good compatibility with Novozym 435, a commercial immobilized *Candida antarctica* lipase B. It was

demonstrated that, in a model biodiesel synthesis system, there were high conversion rates (97%) for the enzymatic transesterifaction of Miglyol oil 812 catalyzed by the Novozym 435 containing DES. Choline chloride:glycerol has also been used as a solvent for the enzymatic preparation of biodiesel from soybean oil.<sup>257</sup> Choline chloride:glycerol has been used as the activator and solvent in the CaO-catalyzed transesterification of rapeseed oil to produce biodiesel.<sup>258</sup> DESs have also been utilized to reduce the free fatty acid content of low grade crude palm oil for biodiesel production.<sup>259</sup>

# 5. CONCLUSIONS

This review has revealed that interest in DESs has grown significantly in the 10 year period since their first description. The similarity in physical properties between DESs and ILs suggests that they belong in the same class of liquid which is distinct from molecular liquids; yet, the disparity in chemical properties between the liquids means that to date DESs have found very different application fields to ILs. The metal finishing industry is being restricted by legislation, toxicity issues, and cost; DESs offer a viable alternative to existing technologies, and hence, the application and scale-up of these processes have received considerable attention. While research into DESs has mainly focused on their application in metal finishing, DESs are beginning to be used in various synthetic applications; the limited reactions that have been investigated prove the potential of DESs in this area. Thus far, only a narrow range of DESs have been utilized: the future offers significant potential to expand the types of salts and hydrogen bond donors which are used and hence further increase the applications of these solvents.

# **AUTHOR INFORMATION**

#### **Corresponding Author**

\*E-mail: emma.smith@ntu.ac.uk.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

# **Biographies**



Emma L. Smith is a Senior Lecturer in Physical Chemistry at Nottingham Trent University. She received her Ph.D. in Chemistry from Loughborough University. She has been researching electrolytic processes in deep eutectic solvents for the past 7 years. Her research interests have focused on sustainable, functional coatings, concentrating on the electrochemical, physical, and mechanical properties of metallic and polymeric films.



Andew P. Abbott is Professor of Physical Chemistry at the University of Leicester. He has been at Leicester for 20 years, and his research has focused on the characterization and application of novel solvent media. He started research in the area of ionic liquids in 1997, and this led to the spin out company Scionix Ltd. which aids with the application of deep eutectic solvents. He has published over 130 papers with 70 in the field of ionic liquids and DESs.



Karl S. Ryder is Professor of Physical Chemistry at the University of Leicester and also a Royal Society Industry Fellow with Rolls-Royce plc (Aerospace). He has published over 70 peer reviewed papers as well as coauthored book chapters and has 8 years experience in working with electrolytic processes in ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents. He has worked on many collaborative projects in scale-up for industrial applications in metal finishing and circuit board technology. Prof. Ryder receives funding from the European Union on a range of projects including energy storage and metal finishing as well as from the U.K. Government and the Royal Society.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the EU (FP6 and 7), EPSRC, and TSB for funding numerous projects in this area.

# REFERENCES

(1) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Munro, H. L.; Rasheed, R. K.; Tambyrajah, V. *Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 2010.

(2) (a) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R.; Tambyrajah, V. International Patent WO 2002026701. (b) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R.; Tambyrajah, V. International Patent WO 2002026381. Abbott, A. P.; Davies, D. L. International Patent WO 2000056700.

(3) Sitze, M. S.; Schreiter, E. R.; Patterson, E. V.; Freeman, R. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, *40*, 2298.

(4) Scheffler, T. B.; Thomson, M. S. In Seventh International Conference on Molten Salts; The Electrochemical Society: Montreal, 1990; p 281.

- (5) Hsiu, S. I.; Huang, J. F.; Sun, I. W. Electrochim. Acta 2002, 47, 4367.
- (6) Lin, Y. F.; Sun, I. W. Electrochim. Acta 1999, 44, 2771.
- (7) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **2004**, *43*, 3447.
- (8) Hurley, F. H.; Wier, T. P. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1951, 98, 207.
- (9) Xu, W. G.; Lu, X. M.; Zhang, Q. G.; Gui, J. S.; Yang, J. Z. Chin. J. Chem. 2006, 24, 331.
- (10) Yang, J. Z.; Tian, P.; He, L. L.; Xu, W. G. Fluid Phase Equilib. 2003, 204, 295.
- (11) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R. K. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2004**, *10*, 3769.
- (12) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R. K.; Tambyrajah, V. Chem. Commun. 2003, 70.
- (13) Abbott, A. P.; Boothby, D.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2004**, 126, 9142.
- (14) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Swain, B. G.; Wheeler, D. A. *Trans. Inst. Met. Finish.* **2005**, *83*, 51.
- (15) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R. K.; Tambyrajah, V. Chem. Commun. 2003, 70.
- (16) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; McKenzie, K. J.; Obi, S. U. J. Chem. Eng. Data **2006**, *51*, 1280.
- (17) Abbott, A. P.; Cullis, P. M.; Gibson, M. J.; Harris, R. C.; Raven, E. Green Chem. 2007, 9, 868.
- (18) Abbott, A. P.; Bell, T. J.; Handa, S.; Stoddart, B. *Green Chem.* 2006, *8*, 784.
- (19) Gambino, M.; Gaune, P.; Nabavian, M.; Gaune-Escard, M.; Bros, J. P. *Thermochim. Acta* **1987**, *111*, 37.
- (20) Gambino, M.; Bros, J. P. Thermochim. Acta 1988, 127, 223.
- (21) Abbott, A. P.; Barron, J. C.; Ryder, K. S.; Wilson, D. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 6495.
- (22) Welton, T. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 2071.
- (23) Ionic Liquids in Synthesis; Wasserscheid, P., Welton, T., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2008.
- (24) Michel, A.; Endres, F.; MacFarlane, D. R.; Hiroyuki, O.; Scrosati, B. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 621.

(25) Abbott, A. P.; Dalrymple, I.; Endres, F.; MacFarlane, D. R. In *Electrodeposition from Ionic Liquids*; Abbott, A. P., Endres, F., MacFarlane, D. R., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2008; p 1.

- (26) Lin, Y.-F.; Sun, I. W. Electrochim. Acta 1999, 44, 277.
- (27) Wilkes, J. S.; Zaworotko, M. J. Chem. Commun. 1992, 965.
- (28) Endres, F.; El Abedin, S. Z. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2006, 8, 2101.
- (29) Bonhote, P.; Dias, A.-P.; Papageorgiou, N.; Kalyanasundaram, K.; Gratzel, M. Inorg. Chem. **1996**, 35, 1168.

(30) MacFarlane, D. R.; Meakin, P.; Sun, J.; Amini, N.; Forsyth, M. J. Phys. Chem. B **1999**, 103, 4164.

(31) Beyersdorff, T.; Schubert, T. J. S.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Pitner, W.; Abbott, A. P.; McKenzie, K. J.; Ryder, K. S. *in Electrodeposition From Ionic Liquids*; MacFarlane, D. R., Abbott, A. P., Eds.; WILEY-VCH: Weinheim, 2008; p 15.

- (32) Wilkes, J. S. ACS Symp. Ser. 2002, 818, 214.
- (33) Lin, I. J. B.; Vasam, C. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 3498.
- (34) Wilkes, J. S. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 73.

(35) Fannin, A. A., Jr; Floreani, D. A.; King, L. A.; Landers, J. S.; Piersma, B. J.; Stech, D. J.; Vaughn, R. L.; Wilkes, J. S.; Williams, J. L. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1984**, *88*, 2614.

(36) Sitze, M. S.; Schreiter, E. R.; Patterson, E. V.; Freeman, R. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, 40, 2298.

(37) Scheffler, T. B.; Thomson, M. S. In *Seventh International Conference on Molten Salts*; The Electrochemical Society: Montreal, 1990; p 281.

(38) Zein El Abedin, S.; Saad, A. Y.; Farag, H. K.; Borisenko, N.; Liu, Q. X.; Endres, F. *Electrochim. Acta* **2007**, *52*, 2746.

(39) Bolkan, S. A.; Yoke, J. T. J. Chem. Eng. Data 1986, 31, 194.

(40) Yang, J.-Z.; Jin, Y.; Xu, W.-G.; Zhang, Q.-G.; Zang, S.-L. Fluid Phase Equilib. 2005, 227, 41.

(41) Abbott, A. P.; Harris, R. C.; Ryder, K. S. J. Phys. Chem. B 2007, 111, 4910.

(42) Wang, H.; Jing, Y.; Wang, X.; Yao, Y.; Jia, Y. J. Mol. Liqu. 2011, 163, 77.

- (44) Kareem, M. A.; Mjalli, F. S.; Hashim, M. A.; AlNashed, I. M. J. Chem. Eng. Data **2010**, 55, 4632.
- (45) Shahbaz, K.; Bagh, F. S. G.; Mjalli, F. S.; AlNashef, I. M.; Hashim, M. A. Fluid Phase Equilib. **2013**, 354, 304.
- (46) Bagh, F. S. G.; Shahbaz, K.; Mjalli, F. S.; AlNashef, I. M.; Hashim, M. A. Fluid Phase Equilib. 2013, 356, 30.
- (47) Pandey, A.; Rai, R.; Pal, M.; Pandey, S. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2014, 16, 1559.
- (48) Abbott, A. P. ChemPhysChem 2004, 5, 1242.
- (49) Abbott, A. P. ChemPhysChem 2005, 6, 2502.
- (50) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Gray, S. ChemPhysChem 2006, 7, 803.
- (51) Taylor, A. W.; Licence, P.; Abbott, A. P. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2011, 13, 10147.
- (52) D'Agostino, C.; Harris, R. C.; Abbott, A. P.; Gladden, L. F.; Mantle, M. D. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. **2011**, *13*, 21383.
- (53) Figueiedo, M.; Gomes, C.; Costa, R.; Martins, A.; Pereira, C. M.; Silva, F. *Electrochim. Acta* **2009**, *54*, 2630.
- (54) Costa, R.; Figueiredo, M.; Pereira, C.; Silva, F. *Electrochim. Acta* **2010**, *55*, 8916.
- (55) Abbott, A. P.; Frisch, G.; Ryder, K. S. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. A 2008, 104, 21.
- (56) Abbott, A. P.; Frisch, G.; Garrett, H.; Hartley, J. Chem. Commun. 2011, 47, 11876.
- (57) Abbott, A. P.; Frisch, G.; Gurman, S. J.; Hillman, A. R.; Hartley, J.; Holyoak, F.; Ryder, K. S. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 10031.
- (58) Abbott, A. P.; Barron, J. C.; Frisch, G.; Gurman, S.; Ryder, K. S.; Silva, A. F. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 10224.
- (59) Abbott, A. P.; El Ttaib, K.; Frisch, G.; McKenzie, K. J.; Ryder, K. S. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *11*, 4269.
- (60) Abbott, A. P.; El Ttaib, K.; Frisch, G.; Ryder, K. S.; Weston, D. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. **2012**, *14*, 2443.
- (61) Rodrigues, F.; do Nascimento, G. M.; Santos, P. S. J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. 2007, 155, 148.
- (62) Deetlefs, M.; Seddon, K. R. Green Chem. 2010, 12, 17.
- (63) Haerens, K.; Matthijs, E.; Chmielarz, A.; Van der Bruggen, B. J. Environ. Manage. 2009, 90, 3245.
- (64) Haerens, K.; Matthijs, E.; Binnemans, K.; Van der Bruggen, B. *Green Chem.* **2009**, *11*, 1357.
- (65) Haerens, K.; Van Deuen, S.; Matthijs, E.; Ven der Bruggen, B. Green Chem. 2010, 12, 2182.
- (66) Hayyan, M.; Hashim, M. A.; Hayyan, A.; Al-Saadi, M. A.; AlNashef, I. M.; Mirghani, M. E. S.; Saheed, O. K. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *90*, 2193.
- (67) Hayyan, M.; Hashim, M. A.; Al-Saadi, M. A.; Hayyan, A.; AlNashef, I. M.; Mirghani, M. E. S. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *93*, 455.
- (68) Lawes, S. D. A.; Hainsworth, S. V.; Blake, P.; Ryder, K. S.; Abbott, A. P. *Tribol. Lett.* **2010**, *37*, 103.
- (69) Skopek, M. A.; Mohamoud, M. A.; Ryder, K. S.; Hillman, A. R. *Chem. Commun.* **2009**, 935.
- (70) Abbott, A. P.; Barker, G. W.; Walter, A. J.; Kocovsky, P. Analyst 2003, 128, 245.
- (71) Morrison, H. G.; Sun, C. C.; Neervannan, S. Int. J. Pharm. 2009, 378, 136.
- (72) Serrano, M. C.; Gutierrez, M. C.; Jimenez, R.; Ferrer, M. L.; del Monte, F. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 579.
- (73) Jhong, H.-Ru.; Wong, D. S.-H.; Wan, C.-C.; Wang, Y.-Y.; Wei, T.-C. *Electrochem. Commun.* **2009**, *11*, 209.
- (74) Gutierrez, M. C.; Carriazo, D.; Tamayo, A.; Jimenez, R.; Pico, F.; Rojo, J. M.; Ferrer, M.; del Monte, F. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 10533.
- (75) Abbott, A. P.; McKenzie, K. J.; Ryder, K. S. Eutectic Based Ionic Liquids. In *Electrodeposition of Metals from Ionic Liquids*; Endres, F.,
- Abbott, A. P., MacFarlane, D., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2007. (76) www.ionmet.eu.
- (77) Smith, E. L.; Fullarton, C.; Harris, R. C.; Saleem, S.; Abbott, A. P.; Ryder, K. S. *Trans. Inst. Met. Finish.* **2010**, *88*, 285.
- (78) *Electroplating Engineering Handbook*; Graham, A. K., Ed.; Kluwer Academic: New York, 1995.

- (79) Konig, U.; Sessler, B. Trans. Inst. Met. Finish. 2008, 86, 183.
- (80) Abbott, A. P.; Frisch, G.; Ryder, K. S. Electroplating Using Ionic Liquids. *Annual Review of Matierals Research*; Clarke, D. R., Ed.; Annual Reviews: Palo Alto, CA, 2013; Vol 43.
- (81) Smith, E. L. Trans. Inst. Met. Finish. 2013, 91, 241.
- (82) Abbott, A. P.; Barron, J. C.; Elhadi, M.; Frisch, G.; Gurman, S. J.; Hillman, A. R.; Smith, E. L.; Mohamoud, M. A.; Ryder, K. S. *ECS Trans.* **2009**, *16*, 47.
- (83) Abbott, A. P.; McKenzie, K. J. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2006, 8, 4265.
- (84) Abbott, A. P.; Ryder, K. S.; Konig, U. *Trans. Inst. Met. Finish.* **2008**, 86, 196.
- (85) Abbott, A. P.; Barron, J. C.; Ryder, K. S. Trans. Inst. Met. Finish. 2009, 87, 201.
- (86) Abbott, A. P.; Barron, J. C.; Frisch, G.; Ryder, K. S.; Silva, A. F. *Electrochim. Acta* **2011**, *56*, 5272.
- (87) Popescu, A. M.; Cojocaru, A.; Donath, C.; Constantin, V. *Chem. Res. Chin. Univ.* **2013**, *29*, 991.
- (88) Abood, H. M. A.; Abbott, A. P.; Ballantyne, A. D.; Ryder, K. S. Chem. Commun. **2011**, 47, 3523.
- (89) Gomez, E.; Cojocaru, P.; Magagnin, L.; Valles, E. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2011, 658, 18.
- (90) Ferreira, E.; Pereira, C.; Silva, A. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2013, 707, 52.
- (91) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D.; Rasheed, R. K.; Archer, J.; John, C. *Trans. Inst. Met. Finish.* **2004**, *82*, 14.
- (92) Endres, F.; El Abdein, S. Z. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 2006, *8*, 2101.
  (93) Popescu, A.-M. J.; Constantin, V.; Olteanu, M.; Demidenko, O.; Yanushkevich, K. *Rev. Chim.* 2011, *62*, 626.
- (94) Lloyd, D.; Vainikka, T.; Murtomaki, L.; Kontturi, K.; Ahlberg, E. Electrochim. Acta 2011, 56, 4942.
- (95) Pollet, B. G.; Hihn, J.-Y.; Mason, T. J. Electrochim. Acta 2008, 53, 4248.
- (96) Abbott, A. P.; El Ttaib, K.; Ryder, K. S.; Smith, E. L. Trans. Inst. Met. Finish. 2008, 86, 234.
- (97) Yang, H.; Guo, X.; Birbilis, N.; Wu, G.; Ding, W. Appl. Surf. Sci. 2011, 257, 9094.
- (98) Gu, C.-D.; Tu, J.-P. RSC Adv. 2011, 1, 1220.
- (99) Gu, C.; Tu, J. Langmuir 2011, 27, 10132.
- (100) www.polyzion.eu.
- (101) Smith, E. L.; Barron, J. C.; Abbott, A. P.; Ryder, K. S. *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 8466.
- (102) Sebastian, P.; Valles, E.; Gomez, E. *Electrochim. Acta* **2013**, *112*, 149.
- (103) Abbott, A.; Azam, M.; Ryder, K. S.; Saleem, S. Anal. Chem. 2013, 85, 6653.
- (104) Abbott, A. P.; Azam, M.; Frisch, G.; Hartley, J.; Ryder, K. S.; saleem, S. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2013, 15, 17314.
- (105) Salome, S.; Pereira, N. M.; Ferreira, E. S.; Pereira, C. M.; Silva, A. F. J. Electroanal. Chem. **2013**, 703, 80.
- (106) Wang, H.; Jia, Y.; Wang, X.; Yao, Y.; Yue, D.; Jing, Y. *Electrochim. Acta* **2013**, *108*, 384.
- (107) Bougouma, M.; Van Elewyck, A.; Steichen, M.; Buess-Herman, C.; Doneux, T. J. Solid State Electrochem. **2013**, *17*, 527.
- (108) Lanzinger, G.; Böck, R.; Freudenberger, R.; Mehner, T.; Scharf, I.; Lampke, T. *Trans. Inst. Met. Finish.* **2013**, *91*, 133.
- (109) Böck, R.; Lanzinger, G.; Freudenberger, R.; Mehner, T.; Nickel, D.; Scharf, I.; Lampke, T. J. Appl. Electrochem. **2013**, 43, 1207.
- (110) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; McKenzie, K.; Ryder, K. S. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2007, 599, 288.
- (111) Chu, Q.; Wang, W.; Liang, J.; Hao, J.; Zhen, Z. Mater. Chem. Phys. 2013, 142, 539.
- (112) Vijayakumar, J.; Mohan, S.; Kumar, S.; Suseendiran, S.; Pavithra, S. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy **2013**, *38*, 10208.
- (113) Malaquias, J.; Steichen, M.; Thomassey, M.; Dale, P. *Electrochim. Acta* **2013**, *103*, 15.
- (114) De Vreese, P.; Skoczylas, A.; Matthijs, E.; Fransaer, J.; Binnemans, K. Electrochim. Acta 2013, 108, 788.

- (116) Yang, H. Y.; Guo, X. W.; Chen, X. B.; Wang, S. H.; Wu, G. H.; Ding, W. J.; Birbilis, N. *Electrochim. Acta* **2012**, *63*, 131.
- (117) Saravanan, G.; Mohan, S. Int. J. Electrochem. Sci. 2011, 6, 1468. (118) Steichen, M.; Thomassey, M.; Siebentritt, S.; Dale, P. J. Phys.
- Chem. Chem. Phys. 2011, 13, 4292. (119) Cojocaru, P.; Magagnin, L.; Gomez, E.; Valles, E. Mater. Lett.
- (119) Colocard, F., Wagagini, E., Goinez, E., Vanes, E. Muter. *Ett.* 2011, 65, 3597.
- (120) Steichen, M.; Larsen, J.; Gütay, L.; Siebentritt, S.; Dale, P. J. *Thin Solid Films* **2011**, *519*, 7254.
- (121) Abbott, A. P.; Nandhra, S.; Postlethwaite, S.; Smith, E. L.; Ryder, K. S. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2007**, *9*, 3735.
- (122) Abbott, A. P.; Griffith, J.; Nandhra, S.; O'Connor, C.; Postlethwaite, S.; Ryder, K. S.; Smith, E. L. *Surf. Coat. Technol.* **2008**, 202, 2033.
- (123) Gu, C. D.; Xu, X. J.; Tu, J. P. J. Phys. Chem. C 2010, 114, 13614. (124) Smith, E. L.; Abbott, A. P.; Griffin, J.; Harris, R. C.; O'Connor, C.; Ryder, K. S. Circuit World 2010, 36, 3.
- (125) Abbott, A. P.; Ryder, K. S.; Konig, U. Trans. Inst. Met. Finish. 2008, 86, 203.
- (126) Ballantyne, A.; Forrest, G.; Goosey, M.; Griguceviciene, A.;
- Juodkazyte, J.; Kellner, R.; Kosenko, A.; Ramanauskas, R.; Ryder, K.; Salakia, A.; Taragata, P.; Vaninga, F. *Cirquit World* **2012**, 28, 21
- Selskis, A.; Tarozaite, R.; Veninga, E. Circuit World 2012, 38, 21.
- (127) www.aspis-pcb.org.
- (128) Liao, H.-G.; Jiang, Y.-X.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Chen, S.-P.; Sun, S.-G. Angew. Chem. **2008**, 120, 9240.
- (129) Wei, L.; Fan, Y. J.; Tian, N.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Zhao, X.-Q.; Mao, B.-W.; Sun, S.-G. J. Phys. Chem. C 2012, 116, 2040.
- (130) Hammons, J. A.; Muselle, T.; Ustarroz, J.; Tzedaki, M.; Rats, M.; Hubin, A.; Terryn, H. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2013**, *117*, 14381.
- (131) Wei, L.; Zhou, Z. Y.; Chen, S. P.; Xu, C. D.; Su, D. S.; Schuster, M. E.; Sun, S. G. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 11152.
- (132) Zhang, F.; Lai, J.; Huang, Y.; Li, F.; Luo, G.; Chu, G. Aust. J. Chem. 2012, 66, 237.
- (133) Huang, Y.; Shen, F.; La, J.; Luo, G. X.; Lai, J. L.; Liu, C. S.; Chu, G. Part. Sci. Technol. 2013, 31, 81.
- (134) Chen, F.; Xie, S.; Zhang, J.; Liu, R. Mater. Lett. 2013, 112, 177.
- (135) Figous, H. Jacquet, P. A. French Patent 707526, 1930.
- (136) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; McKenzie, K. J.; Ryder, K. S. *Electrochim. Acta* **2005**, *51*, 4420.
- (137) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; McKenzie, K. J.; Glidle, A.; Ryder, K. S. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. **2006**, 8, 4214.
- (138) Ryder, K. S.; Abbott, A. P.; Dsouza, N.; Withey, P. Trans. Int. Met. Finish. **2012**, 90, 9.
- (139) Abbott, A. P.; Frisch, G.; Hartley, J.; Ryder, K. S. Green Chem. 2011, 13, 471.
- (140) www.reconif.co.uk.
- (141) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R.; Shikotra, P. *Inorg. Chem.* **2005**, *44*, 6497.
- (142) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Shikotra, P. Trans. Inst. Min. Metall., Sect. C 2006, 115, 15.
- (143) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; McKenzie, K. J.; Obi, S. U. J. Chem. Eng. Data **2006**, *51*, 1280.
- (144) Abbott, A. P.; Collins, J.; Dalrymple, I.; Harris, R. C.; Mistry, R.; Qiu, F.; Scheirer, J.; Wise, W. R. *Aust. J. Chem.* **2009**, *62*, 341.
- (145) Taubert, J.; Raghavan, S. Microelectron. Eng. 2014, 114, 141.
- (146) Taubert, J.; Keswani, M.; Raghavan, S. Microelectron. Eng. 2013, 102, 81.
- (147) Li, C. P.; Li, D.; Zou, S. S.; Li, Z.; Yin, J. M.; Wang, A. L.; Cui, Y. N.; Yao, Z. L.; Zhao, Q. *Green Chem.* **2013**, *15*, 2793.
- (148) Avalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; Jimenez, J. L.; Palacious, J. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2006**, 45, 3904.
- (149) Clouthier, C. M.; Pelletier, J. N. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 1585.
- (150) Morales, R. C.; Tambyrajah, V.; Jenkins, P. R.; Davies, D. L.; Abbott, A. *Chem. Commun.* **2004**, 158.
- (151) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R.; Tambyrajah, V. *Green Chem.* **2002**, *4*, 24.
- (152) Singh, B.; Lobo, H.; Shankarling, G. Catal. Lett. 2011, 141, 178.

- (153) Patil, U. B.; Singh, A. S.; Nagarkar, J. M. RSC Adv. 2014, 4, 1102.
- (154) Phadtare, S. B.; Shankarling, G. S. Green Chem. 2010, 12, 458. (155) Pawar, P. M.; Jarag, K. J.; Shankarling, G. S. Green Chem. 2011,
- 13, 2130. (156) Mota-Morales, J. D.; Gutiérrez, M. C.; Sanchez, I. C.; Luna-
- Bárcenas, G.; del Monte, F. Chem. Commun. 2011, 47, 5328.
- (157) Gutierrez, M. C.; Rubio, F.; del Monte, F. *Chem. Mater.* **2010**, *22*, 2711.
- (158) Zhao, H.; Baker, G. A.; Holmes, S. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym. 2011, 72, 163.
- (159) Hu, S.; Zhang, Z.; Zhou, Y.; Han, B.; Fan, H.; Li, W.; Song, J.; Xie, Y. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 1280.
- (160) Wang, S.-M.; Li, Y.-W.; Feng, X.-J.; Li, Y. G.; Wang, E.-B. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **2010**, 363, 1556.
- (161) Wang, S.-M.; Chen, W.-L.; Wang, E.-B.; Li, Y.-G.; Feng, X.-J.; Liu, L. Inorg. Chem. Commun. **2010**, *13*, 972.
- (162) Chen, Z.; Zhou, B.; Cai, H.; Zhu, W.; Zou, X. Green Chem. 2009, 11, 275.
- (163) Chen, Z.; Zhu, W.; Zheng, Z.; Zou, X. J. Fluorine Chem. 2010, 131, 340.
- (164) Patil, U. B.; Shendage, S. S.; Nagarkar, J. M. Synthesis 2013, 45, 3295.
- (165) Wang, L.; Zhou, M.; Chen, Q.; He, M. Y. J. Chem. Res. **2013**, 598. (166) Wang, L.; Dai, D. Y.; Chen, Q.; He, M. Y. Asian J. Org. Chem.
- 2013, 2, 1040.
- (167) Azizi, N.; Dezfooli, S.; Khajeh, M.; Hashemi, M. M. J. Mol. Liq. **2013**, 186, 76.
- (168) Handy, S.; Lavender, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2013, 54, 4377.
- (169) Azizi, N.; Marimi, M. Environ. Chem. Lett. 2013, 11, 371.
- (170) Hawkins, I.; Handy, S. T. Tetrahedron 2013, 69, 9200.
- (171) Azizi, N.; Dezfooli, S.; Hashemi, M. M. C. R. Chim. 2013, 16, 997.
- (172) Azizi, N.; Khajeh, M.; Hasani, M.; Dezfooli, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2013**, *54*, 5407.
- (173) Maugeri, Z.; Leitner, W.; de Maria, P. D. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2013**, 4223.
- (174) Pednekar, S.; Bhalerao, R.; Ghadge, N. J. Chem. Sci. 2013, 125, 615.
- (175) Zhu, A. L.; Li, Q. Q.; Li, I. J.; Wang, J. J. Catal. Lett. 2013, 143, 463.
- (176) Wang, L.; Zhong, X.; Zhou, M.; Zhou, W. Y.; Chen, Q.; He, M. Y. J. Chem. Res. **2013**, 236.
- (177) Azizi, N.; Davoudpour, A.; Eskandari, F.; Batebi, E. *Monatsh. Chem.* **2013**, *144*, 405.
- (178) Mamajanov, I.; Engelhart, A. E.; Bean, H. D.; Hud, N. V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 6310.
- (179) Mondal, D.; Sharma, M.; Mukesh, C.; Gupta, V.; Prasad, K. Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 9606.
- (180) Davis, M. E. Nature 2002, 417, 813.
- (181) Cundy, C. S.; Cox, P. A. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 663.
- (182) Lee, Y. R.; Kim, J.; Ahn, W. S. Korean J. Chem. Eng. 2013, 30, 1667.
- (183) Corma, A.; Diaz-Cabanas, M.; Martinez-Triguero, J.; Rey, F.;
  Rius, J. Nature 2002, 418, 514. Freyhardt, C. C.; Tsapatsis, M.; Lobo, R.
  F.; Balkus, K. J.; Davis, M. E. Nature 1996, 381, 295. Corma, A.; Rey, F.;
  Rius, J. A.; Sabater, M. J.; Valencia, S. Nature 2004, 431, 287. Feng, P.;
  Bu, X.; Stucky, G. D. Nature 1997, 388, 735. Sun, T.; Ying, J. Y. Nature 1997, 389, 704. Lee, H.; Zones, S. I.; Davis, M. E. Nature 2003, 425, 385.
  (184) Wheatley, P. S.; Butler, A. R.; Crane, M. S.; Fox, S.; Xiao, B.;
  Rossi, A. G.; Megson, I. L.; Morris, R. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 502. Zecchina, A.; Bordiga, S.; Vitillo, J. G.; Ricchiardi, G.; Lamberti, C.;
- Spoto, G.; Bjorgen, M.; Lillerud, K. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6361. (185) Lobo, R. F.; Zones, S. I.; Davis, M. E. J. Inclusion Phenom. Mol. Recognit. Chem. 1995, 21, 47.
- (186) Cooper, E. R.; Andrews, C. D.; Wheatley, P. S.; Webb, P. B.; Wormald, P.; Morris, R. E. *Nature* **2004**, *430*, 1012.
- (187) Lin, Z.; Wragg, D. S.; Lightfoot, P.; Morris, R. E. Dalton Trans. 2009, 5287.
- (188) Himeur, F.; Stein, I.; Wragg, D. D.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Lightfoot, P.; Morris, R. E. Solid State Sci. **2010**, *12*, 418.

- (189) Parnham, E. R.; Morris, R. E. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 1005.
- (190) Parnham, E. R.; Drylie, E. A.; Wheatley, P. S.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Morris, R. E. Angew. Chem. **2006**, 118, 5084.
- (191) Parnham, E. R.; Drylie, E. A.; Wheatley, P. S.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Morris, R. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2006**, 45, 4962.
- (192) Parnham, E. R.; Morris, R. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2006**, 128, 2204.
- (193) Drylie, E. A.; Wragg, D. S.; Parnham, E.; Weatley, P. S.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Warren, J. E.; Morris, R. E. *Angew. Chem.* **2007**, *119*, 7985.
- (194) Martins, A. C.; Fernandez-Felisbino, R.; Ruotolo, L. A. M. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 2012, 149, 55.
- (195) Carvalho, M. M.; Ruotolo, L. A. M.; Fernandez-Felisbino, R. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2013**, *165*, 163.
- (196) Liu, L.; Li, Y.; Wei, H.; Dog, M.; Wang, J.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Li, J.; Dong, J.; Morris, R. E. Angew. Chem. **2009**, 121, 2240.
- (197) Liu, L.; Chen, Z.-F.; Wei, H.-B.; Li, Y.; Fu, Y.-C.; Xu, H.; Li, J.-P.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Dong, J.-X. *Inorg. Chem.* **2010**, *49*, 8270.
- (198) Liu, L.; Wang, W.; Wei, H.-B.; Zhang, T.; Dong, J.-X. Acta Chimica Acta **2011**, *69*, 3033.
- (199) Lohmeier, S. J.; Wiebcke, M.; Behrens, P. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2008, 634, 147.
- (200) Liu, L.; Wragg, D. S.; Zhang, H.; Kong, Y.; Byrne, P. J.; Proir, T.
- J.; Warren, J. E.; Lin, Z.; Don, J.; Morris, R. E. *Dalton Trans.* **2009**, 6715. (201) Li, S. Y.; Wang, W.; Liu, L.; Dong, J. X. *CrystEngComm* **2013**, *15*,
- 6424. (202) Liu, L.; Kong, Y.; Xu, H.; Li, J. P.; Dong, J. X.; Lin, Z. *Microporous*
- Mesoporous Mater. 2008, 115, 624. (203) Jhang, P.-C.; Chuang, N.-T.; Wang, S.-L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.
- **2010**, *49*, 4200. (204) Li, L. M.; Cheng, K.; Wang, F.; Zhang, J. Inorg. Chem. **2013**, 52,
- (204) Li, L. M.; Cheng, K.; Wang, F.; Zhang, J. *Inorg. Chem.* 2013, 52, 5654.
- (205) Li, Y.; Shi, Q.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Woolins, J. D.; Dong, J. Acta Crystallogr. 2009, E65, m1522.
- (206) Liu, W.; Yu, Y.; Cao, L.; Su, G.; Liu, X.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Y. J. Hazard. Mater. **2010**, *181*, 1102.
- (207) Chen, S.; Zhang, J.; Wu, T.; Feng, P.; Bu, X. Dalton Trans. 2010, 39, 697.
- (208) Aidoudi, F. H.; Byrne, P. J.; Allan, P. K.; Teat, S. J.; Lightfoot, P.; Morris, R. E. *Dalton Trans.* **2011**, *40*, 4324.
- (209) Wang, S.-M.; Chen, W.-L.; Wang, E. B.; Li, Y.-G.; Feng, X.-J.; Liu, L. Inorg. Chem. Commun. **2010**, *13*, 972.
- (210) Lin, Z.; Wragg, D. S.; Lightfoot, P.; Morris, R. E. Dalton Trans. 2009, 5287.
- (211) Himeur, F.; Stein, I.; Wragg, D. S.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Lightfoot, P.; Morris, R. E. Solid State Sci. 2010, 12, 418.
- (212) Meng, Y.; Liu, J. L.; Zhang, Z. M.; Lin, W. Q.; Lin, Z. J.; Tong, M. L. Dalton Trans. **2013**, *42*, 12853.
- (213) Ge, X.; Gu, C. D.; Lu, Y.; Wang, X. L.; Tu, J. P. J. Mater. Chem. A 2013, 1, 13454.
- (214) Dong, J.-Y.; Lin, W.-H.; Hsu, Y.-J.; Wong, D. S.-H.; Lu, S.-Y. CrystEngComm **2011**, *13*, 6218.
- (215) Gu, C. D.; Zhang, H.; Wang, X. L.; Tu, J. P. RSC Adv. 2013, 3, 11807.
- (216) Carriazo, D.; Gutierrez, M. C.; Ferrer, M. L.; del Monte, F. *Chem. Mater.* **2010**, *22*, 6146.
- (217) Li, X.; Hou, M.; Han, B.; Wang, X.; Zou, L. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2008, 53, 548.
- (218) Su, W. C.; Wong, D. S. H.; Li, M. H. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2009, 54, 1951.
- (219) Chen, S.; Zhang, J.; Wu, T.; Feng, P.; Bu, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 16027.
- (220) Zhang, J.; Wu, T.; Chen, S.; Feng, P.; Bu, X. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 3486.
- (221) Guitierrez, M. C.; Carriazo, D.; Ania, C. O.; Parra, J. B.; Ferrer, M. L.; del Monte, F. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2011**, *4*, 3535.
- (222) Zhu, A.; Jiang, T.; Han, B.; Zhang, J.; Xie, Y.; Ma, X. Green Chem. 2007, 9, 169.
- (223) Hao, G. P.; Jin, Z. Y.; Sun, Q.; Zhang, X. Q.; Zhang, J. T.; Lu, A. H. Energy Environ. Sci. **2013**, *6*, 3740.
- (224) Leron, R. B.; Li, M. H. J. Chem. Thermodyn. 2013, 57, 131.

- (225) Leron, R. B.; Li, M. H. Thermochim. Acta 2013, 551, 14.
- (226) Lin, C. M.; Leron, R. B.; Caparanga, A. R.; Li, M. H. J. Chem. Thermodyn. 2014, 68, 216.
- (227) Leron, R. B.; Caparanga, A.; Li, M. H. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 2013, 44, 879.
- (228) Francisco, M.; van den Bruinhorst, A.; Zubeir, L. F.; Peters, C. J.; Kroon, M. C. *Fluid Phase Equilib.* **2013**, *340*, 77.
- (229) Yang, D. Z.; Hou, M. Q.; Ning, H.; Zhang, J. L.; Ma, J.; Yang, G. Y.; Han, B. X. *Green Chem.* **2013**, *15*, 2261.
- (230) Dominguez de Maria, P.; Maugeri, Z. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2011, 15, 220.
- (231) Gorke, J.; Srienc, F.; Kazlauskas, R. Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng. 2010, 15, 40.
- (232) Gorke, J. T.; Srienc, F.; Kazlauskas, R. Chem. Commun. 2008, 1235.
- (233) Zhao, H.; Baker, G. A.; Holmes, S. J. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym. 2011, 72, 163.
- (234) Lindberg, D.; de la Fuente Revenga, M.; Widersten, M. J. Biotechnol. 2010, 147, 169.
- (235) Singh, B.; Lobo, H.; Shankarling, G. *Catal. Lett.* **2011**, *141*, 178. (236) Sonawane, Y. A.; Phadtare, S. B.; Borse, B. N.; Jagtap, A. R.; Shankarling, G. S. Org. Lett. **2010**, *12*, 1456.
- (237) Choi, Y. H.; van Spronsen, J.; Dai, Y.; Verbene, M.; Hollmann, F.; Arends, I. W. C. E.; Witkamp, G.-J.; Verpoorte, R. *Plant Physiol.* **2011**, *156*, 1701.
- (238) Gutierrez, M. C.; Ferrer, M. L.; Reyes Mateo, C.; del Monte, F. Langmuir 2009, 25, 5509.
- (239) Gutierrez, M.; Ferrer, M. L.; Yuste, L.; Rojo, F.; del Monte, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2158.
- (240) Abbott, A. P.; Bell, T. J.; Handa, S.; Stoddart, B. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 705.
- (241) Abbott, A. P.; Bell, T. J.; Handa, S.; Stoddart, B. Green Chem. 2006, 8, 784.
- (242) Zhang, Q. H.; Benoit, M.; Vigier, K. D.; Barrault, J.; Jerome, F. Chem.—Eur. J. 2012, 18, 1043.
- (243) Biswas, A.; Shogren, R. L.; Stevenson, D. G.; Willett, J. L.; Bhowmik, P. K. Carbohydr. Polym. 2006, 66, 546.
- (244) Zdanowicz, M.; Spychaj, T. Polimery 2011, 56, 11.
- (245) Ramesh, S.; Shanti, R.; Morris, E. Carbohydr. Polym. 2012, 87, 701.
- (246) Ramesh, S.; Shanti, R.; Morris, E. J. Mater. Sci. 2012, 47, 1787.
- (247) Zhao, H.; Baker, G. A. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2013, 88, 3.
- (248) Abbott, A. P.; Cullis, P. M.; Gibson, M. J.; Harris, R. C.; Raven, E. Green Chem. 2007, 9, 868.
- (249) Hayyan, M.; Mjalli, F. S.; Hashim, M. A.; AlNashef, I. M. Fuel Process. Technol. 2010, 91, 116.
- (250) Shahbaz, K.; Mjalli, F. S.; Hashim, M. A.; AlNashef, I. M. J. Appl. Sci. 2010, 10, 3349.
- (251) Shahbaz, K.; Mjalli, F. S.; Hashim, M. A.; AlNashef, I. M. Sep. Purif. Technol. 2011, 81, 216.
- (252) Shahbaz, K.; Mjalli, F. S.; Hashim, M. A.; AlNashef, I. M. *Energy Fuels* **2011**, *25*, 2671.
- (253) Shahbaz, K.; Mjalli, F. S.; Hashim, M. A.; AlNashef, I. M. Sep. Sci. Technol. 2013, 48, 1184.
- (254) Abbott, A. P.; Harris, R. C.; Ryder, K. S.; D'Agostino, C.; Gladden, L. F.; Mantle, M. D. Green Chem. 2011, 13, 82.
- (255) Diaz-Alvarez, A. E.; Francos, J.; Lastra-Barreira, B.; Crochet, P.; Cadierno, V. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 6208.
- (256) Zhao, H.; Baker, G. A.; Holmes, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2011, 9, 1908.
- (257) Zhao, H.; Zhang, C.; Crittle, T. D. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym. 2013, 85–86, 243.
- (258) Huang, W.; Tang, S. K.; Zhao, H.; Tian, S. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2013, 52, 11943.
- (259) Hayyan, A.; Hashim, M. A.; Hayyan, M.; Mjalli, F. S.; AlNashef, I. M. Ind. Crops Prod. **2013**, *46*, 392.